As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 24, 2007.

**Registration No. 333-**

# SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

# Form S-3 REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

# UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

One Financial Plaza Hartford, Connecticut 06103 (860) 728-7000

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant's principal executive offices)

Charles D. Gill, Esq. Senior Vice President and General Counsel United Technologies Corporation One Financial Plaza Hartford, Connecticut 06103 (860) 728-7000

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

Copies to:

David Lopez, Esq. Sandra L. Flow, Esq. Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP One Liberty Plaza New York, New York 10006 (212) 225-2000 David B. Harms, Esq. Sullivan & Cromwell LLP 125 Broad Street New York, New York 10004 (212) 558-4000

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: From time to time after the effective date of this Registration Statement.

If the only securities being registered on this Form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment plans, please check the following box.

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, other than securities offered only in connection with dividend or interest reinvestment plans, check the following box. If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the

following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.  $\Box$ If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the

Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

effective upon filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act, check the following box. If this Form is a post-effective amendment to a registration statement filed pursuant to General Instruction I.D. filed to register additional

securities or additional classes of securities pursuant to Rule 413(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box.  $\Box$ 

# CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Title of each class of securities to be registered	Amount to be registered/ Proposed maximum offering price per unit/ Proposed maximum aggregate offering price/ Amount of registration fee(1)
Debt Securities	
Debt Warrants	
Currency Warrants	
Stock-Index Warrants	
Common Stock	

(1) An unspecified aggregate initial offering price and number or amount of securities of each identified class is being registered as may from time to time be offered at unspecified prices. Separate consideration may or may not be received for securities that are issuable on exercise, conversion or exchange of other securities. In accordance with Rules 456(b) and 457(r), the Registrant is deferring payment of all of the registration fee, except for \$105,930 that may be offset pursuant to Rule 457(p) for fees paid with respect to unsold securities that were registered pursuant to Registration Statement No. 333-124743, initially filed by the Registrant on May 9, 2005, which is hereby withdrawn. In connection with the securities offered hereby, except as specified in the previous sentence, the Registrant will pay "pay-as-you-go registration fees" in accordance with Rule 456(b).

06-0570975 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)



# Debt Securities, Debt Warrants, Currency Warrants, Stock-Index Warrants and Common Stock

United Technologies Corporation intends to offer from time to time debt securities (which may be convertible into shares of common stock), debt warrants, currency warrants, stock-index warrants (collectively, together with the debt warrants and currency warrants, the "warrants") and common stock. The debt securities, warrants and common stock may be offered together or separately and in one or more series, in amounts, at prices and on other terms to be determined at the time of the offering and described for you in an accompanying prospectus supplement.

United Technologies Corporation may sell the debt securities, warrants and common stock directly or to or through underwriters or dealers, and also to other purchasers or through agents. The names of any underwriters or agents that are included in a sale of debt securities, warrants or common stock to you, and any applicable commissions or discounts, will be stated in an accompanying prospectus supplement.

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "UTX."

Investing in the offered securities involves risks. See " Risk Factors" on page 2 of this prospectus

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this prospectus or any accompanying prospectus supplement. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

Prospectus dated July 24, 2007

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

About this Prospectus				
United Technologies Corporation				
Risk Factors				
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements				
Use of Proceeds				
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges				
Legal Ownership				
Description of Debt Securities				
Description of Debt Warrants				
Description of Currency Warrants				
Description of Stock-Index Warrants				
Description of Capital Stock				
Plan of Distribution				
Validity of the Securities				
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm				
Where You Can Find More Information				

# ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

This prospectus is part of a registration statement that we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, utilizing an automatic shelf registration process. We may use this prospectus to offer, in one or more offerings:

- debt securities;
- debt warrants;
- currency warrants;
- stock-index warrants;
- common stock; and
- any combination of the above.

This prospectus provides you with a general description of the debt securities, warrants and common stock that we may offer. Each time we offer any of these securities, we will describe the specific types, amounts, prices and detailed terms of any of the offered securities in an accompanying prospectus supplement. The specific terms of the offered securities as set forth in any prospectus supplement may vary from the general terms of the securities described in this prospectus. As a result, the summary description of the debt securities, warrants and common stock contained in this prospectus are subject to, and qualified by reference to, the specific terms of the offered securities contained in any accompanying prospectus supplement. Any accompanying prospectus supplement may also add, update or change other information, including information about us, contained in this prospectus. Therefore, for a more complete understanding of the terms of the offered securities, before making your investment decision, you should carefully read:

- this prospectus;
- the accompanying prospectus supplement, which (1) explains the specific terms of the securities being offered and (2) updates and changes information in this prospectus; and
- the documents referred to in "Where You Can Find More Information" on page 32 for information on us, including our financial statements.

# UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION

United Technologies Corporation provides high technology products and services to the building systems and aerospace industries worldwide. United Technologies Corporation conducts its business through six principal segments: Otis, Carrier, UTC Fire & Security, Pratt & Whitney, Hamilton Sundstrand and Sikorsky. The segments are based on the management structure of the businesses and the grouping of similar operating companies, where each management organization has general operating autonomy over a range of products and services. The principal products and services of each segment are as follows:

- **Otis** elevators, escalators, moving walkways and service.
- Carrier residential, commercial and industrial heating, ventilating and air conditioning (HVAC) and refrigeration systems and equipment, food service equipment, building automation and controls, HVAC and refrigeration components and installation, retrofit and after market services.
- **UTC Fire & Security** fire and special hazard detection and suppression systems and fire fighting equipment, electronic security, monitoring and rapid response systems and service and security personnel services.
- **Pratt & Whitney** commercial, general aviation and military aircraft engines, parts and services, industrial gas turbines and space propulsion.
- Hamilton Sundstrand aerospace products and aftermarket services, including power generation, management and distribution systems, flight systems, engine control systems, environmental control systems, fire protection and detection systems, auxiliary power units and propeller systems, and industrial products, including air compressors, metering pumps and fluid handling equipment.

Sikorsky military and commercial helicopters, aftermarket helicopter and aircraft parts and services.

United Technologies Corporation was incorporated in Delaware in 1934. Unless the context otherwise requires, "UTC," "we," "us" or "our" means United Technologies Corporation. UTC's principal executive offices are located at United Technologies Building, One Financial Plaza, Hartford, Connecticut 06103, telephone (860) 728-7000.

#### **RISK FACTORS**

Investing in the offered securities involves risks. Before deciding to invest in our securities, you should consider carefully the discussion of risks and uncertainties under the heading "Risk Factors" contained in any applicable prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus, and under similar headings in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 and our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods ended March 31, 2007 and June 30, 2007 which are incorporated by reference into this prospectus, and in the other documents that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus. See the section entitled "Where You Can Find More Information" in this prospectus. The risks and uncertainties we discuss in the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus are those that we currently believe may materially affect our company. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe are immaterial also may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

#### NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus, information incorporated by reference into this prospectus, and any applicable prospectus supplement contain forwardlooking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements are those that predict or describe future events or trends and that do not relate solely to historical matters. We have identified the forward-looking statements we make by using such terms as "may," "might," "can," "will," "should," "could," "would," "expect," "plan," "seek," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "project," "intend," "predict," "potential," "if" and similar expressions which imply that the statements relate to future events or expectations. These statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and are based on assumptions and subject to risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. They involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that could cause our future results to differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements. Risks, uncertainties and other factors that might cause such differences include the risks identified under the heading "Risk Factors" contained in any applicable prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus that we may authorize to be provided to you, and under similar headings in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K and in other reports we file with the SEC or in other documents that we publicly disseminate from time to time. Many factors are beyond our ability to control or predict. Accordingly, you should not place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements represent our estimates and assumptions only as of the date of this prospectus. We have no obligation or intent to update publicly any forward-looking statements whether in response to new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by

#### **USE OF PROCEEDS**

Except as otherwise provided in an accompanying prospectus supplement, the net proceeds from the sale of the debt securities, warrants and common stock described in this prospectus will be added to our general funds and will be used for our general corporate purposes and those of our consolidated subsidiaries, which may include financing possible acquisitions and repurchases of our stock.

From time to time, we may engage in additional public or private financings of a character and amount which we may deem appropriate.

# RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

Six Months Ended		Years Ended December 31,				
June 30, 2007	2006	2005	2004	2003	2002	
9.14	8.60	8.62	9.17	7.92	7.58	

For purposes of computing the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, earnings are divided by fixed charges. Earnings represent the sum of income from continuing operations before income taxes and minority interests for UTC and its subsidiaries plus fixed charges, minus interest capitalized, plus amortization of interest capitalized. Fixed charges represent interest accrued on indebtedness of UTC and its consolidated subsidiaries, including interest capitalized, plus one-third of rents, the proportion deemed representative of the interest factor.

# LEGAL OWNERSHIP

In this prospectus and in any related prospectus supplement, when we refer to the "holders" of securities as being entitled to specified rights or payments, we mean only the actual legal holders of the securities. While you will be the holder if you hold a security registered in your name, more often than not the holder actually will be a broker, bank or other financial institution or, in the case of a global security, the depositary. Our obligations, as well as the obligations of the trustee, any warrant agent, any transfer agent, any registrar and any third parties employed by us, the trustee, any warrant agent and any registrar, run only to persons who are registered as holders of UTC securities, except as may be specifically provided for in a warrant agreement, warrant certificate or other contract governing the securities. For example, once we make payment to the registered holder, we have no further responsibility for the payment even if that holder is legally required to pass the payment along to you as a street name customer but does not do so.

# **Street Name and Other Indirect Holders**

Holding securities in accounts at banks, brokers or other financial institutions is called holding in "street name." If you hold UTC securities in street name, we will recognize only the bank or broker, or the financial institution the bank or broker uses to hold the securities, as a holder. These intermediary banks, brokers, other financial institutions and depositaries pass along principal, interest, dividends and other payments, if any, on the securities, either because they agree to do so in their customer agreements or because they legally are required to do so. This means that if you are an indirect holder, you will need to coordinate with the institution through which you hold your interest in a security in order to determine how the provisions involving holders described in this prospectus and any related prospectus supplement actually will apply to you. For example, if the debt security in which you hold a beneficial interest in street name can be repaid at the option of the holder, you cannot redeem it yourself by following the procedures described in the prospectus supplement relating to that security. Instead, you would need to cause the institution through which you hold your interest to take those actions on your behalf. Your institution may have procedures and deadlines different from or additional to those described in the related prospectus supplement.

If you hold UTC securities in street name or through other indirect means, you should check with the institution through which you hold your interest in a security to find out:

- How it handles payments and notices with respect to the securities;
- Whether it imposes fees or charges;
- How it handles voting, if applicable;
- How and when you should notify it to exercise on your behalf any rights or options that may exist under the securities;
- Whether and how you can instruct it to send you securities registered in your own name so you can be a direct holder as described below; and
- How it would pursue rights under the securities if there were a default or other event triggering the need for holders to act to protect their interests.

# **Global Securities**

A global security is a special type of indirectly held security. If we choose to issue UTC securities in the form of global securities, the ultimate beneficial owners can only be indirect holders. We do this by requiring that the global security be registered in the name of a financial institution we select and by requiring that the securities included in the global security not be transferred to the name of any other direct holder unless the special circumstances described below occur (except in the case of common stock issued in global form, as described below). The financial institution that acts as the sole direct holder of the global security is called the "depositary." Any person wishing to own a security issued in global form must do so indirectly by virtue of an account with a broker, bank or other financial institution that in turn has an account with the depositary. The prospectus supplement or pricing supplement related to the particular offered securities will indicate whether those securities will be issued only as global securities.

As an indirect holder, your rights relating to a global security will be governed by the account rules of your financial institution and of the depositary, as well as general laws relating to securities transfers. We will not recognize you as a holder of the securities and instead will deal only with the depositary that holds the global security.

You should be aware that if UTC securities are issued only in the form of global securities:

- you cannot have the securities registered in your own name;
- you cannot receive physical certificates for your interest in the securities;
- you will be a street name holder and must look to your own bank, broker or other financial institution for payments on the securities and protection of your legal rights relating to the securities;
- you may not be able to sell interests in the securities to some insurance companies and other institutions that are required by law to own their securities in the form of physical certificates;
- the depositary's policies will govern payments, dividends, transfers, exchange and other matters relating to your interest in the global security. We, the trustee, any warrant agent, any transfer agent and any registrar have no responsibility for any aspect of the depositary's actions or for its records of ownership interests in the global security. We, the trustee, any warrant agent, any transfer agent and any registrar also do not supervise the depositary in any way; and
- the depositary will require that interests in a global security be purchased or sold within its system using same-day funds for settlement.

We may issue UTC common stock in the form of a global security, but you will nevertheless have the right to receive shares of common stock in certificated form registered in your name. You should consult your bank, broker or other financial institution to find out how to receive certificates in your name which represent your interests in common stock so that you will be a direct holder.

In a few special situations described later, a global security representing UTC securities will terminate and interests in it will be exchanged for physical certificates representing the securities. After that exchange, the choice of whether to hold securities directly or in street name will be up to you. You must consult your bank, broker or other financial institution to find out how to have your interests in the securities transferred to your name, so that you will be a direct holder.

Unless we specify otherwise in any related prospectus supplement or pricing supplement, the special situations for termination of a global security representing UTC securities are:

When the depositary notifies us that it is unwilling, unable or no longer qualified to continue as depositary and we do not or cannot appoint a successor depositary within 90 days;

- When we notify the trustee that we wish to terminate the global security; or
- When an event of default on debt securities has occurred and has not been cured. (Defaults are discussed later under "Description of Debt Securities—Events of Default.")

The related prospectus supplement may also list additional situations for terminating a global security that would apply only to the particular series of securities covered by the prospectus supplement. When a global security terminates, the depositary (and not us, the trustee, any warrant agent, any transfer agent or any registrar) is responsible for deciding the names of the institutions that will be the initial direct holders.

# DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES

Each series of debt securities will constitute unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of UTC and will rank equally with all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness of UTC, including each other series of debt securities.

#### The Indenture

As required by federal law for all notes and debentures of companies that are publicly offered, the debt securities offered pursuant to this prospectus are governed by a document called the "indenture." The indenture is a contract dated as of May 1, 2001, as amended and restated, as supplemented from time to time, between UTC and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., successor to The Bank of New York, which acts as trustee. The indenture is an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. See "Where You Can Find More Information" for information on how to obtain a copy of the indenture.

The following description of the indenture and summaries of some provisions of the indenture do not describe every aspect of the debt securities and are subject, and are qualified in their entirety by reference, to all the provisions of the indenture including definitions of terms used in the indenture. For example, in this section we use some terms that have been given special meaning in the indenture. We describe the meaning for only the more important terms. We also include references in parentheses to some sections of the indenture. Whenever we refer to particular sections or defined terms of the indenture in this prospectus or in any related prospectus supplement, those sections or defined terms are incorporated by reference in this prospectus or in the related prospectus supplement.

#### Terms of the Debt Securities To Be Described in the Prospectus Supplement

The particular terms of each issue of debt securities, as well as any modifications or additions to the general terms of the indenture which may be applicable in the case of that issue of debt securities, will be described in the related prospectus supplement. This description will include, where applicable:

- the title of that issue of debt securities;
- any limit upon the aggregate principal amount of that issue of debt securities and whether we may, without the consent of the holders of that issue of debt securities, issue additional debt securities of the same series;
- the percentage of the principal amount for which that issue of debt securities will be issued;
- the date or dates on which the principal of that issue of debt securities will be payable, or the method by which this date or these dates will be determined or extended;
- the rate or rates (which may be fixed or variable), at which that issue of debt securities will bear interest, if any, or the method by which this rate or these rates will be determined;
- the date or dates from which any interest will accrue, or the method by which this date or these dates will be determined, the dates on which payment of any interest will be

payable on any registered security and the regular record dates for these interest payment dates and the basis on which any interest will be calculated if other than on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months;

- the place or places where the principal, premium, if any, and interest, if any, on that issue of debt securities will be payable;
- the place or places where that issue of debt securities may be surrendered for exchange, and notices or demands to or upon UTC in
  respect of debt securities may be served and any registered securities may be surrendered for registration of transfer;
- the period or periods within which, the price or prices at which, the currency, currencies, currency unit or units or composite currencies in which, and the other terms and conditions upon which, that issue of debt securities may be redeemed in whole or in part, at the option of UTC;
- the obligation, if any, of UTC to redeem, repay or purchase that issue of debt securities pursuant to any sinking fund or analogous
  provision or at the option of a holder of debt securities and the period or periods within which, the price or prices at which, the
  currency, currencies, currency unit or units or composite currencies in which, and the other terms and conditions upon which, that
  issue of debt securities will be redeemed, repaid or purchased, in whole or in part, pursuant to such obligation;
- the currency, currencies or currency unit or composite currency in which that issue of debt securities will be denominated and/or in which the principal, premium, if any, or interest on that issue of debt securities will be payable;
- whether the debt securities will be convertible into UTC common stock, and, if so, the terms and conditions of conversion;
- whether the amount of payments of principal, premium, if any, or interest on that issue of debt securities may be determined with
  reference to an index, formula or other method (which index, formula or method may, without limitation, be based on one or more
  currencies, currency units, composite currencies, commodities, equity indices or other indices) and the manner in which these
  amounts will be determined;
- whether UTC or a holder may elect payment of the principal, premium, if any, or interest on that issue of debt securities in a
  currency, currencies, currency unit or units or composite currency other than that in which the debt securities are stated to be
  payable, and the period or periods within which, and the terms and conditions upon which, this election may be made, and the time
  and manner of determining the exchange rate between the coin or currency, currencies, currency unit or units or composite currency
  in which the debt securities are denominated or stated to be payable and the coin or currency, currencies, currency unit or units or
  composite currency in which the debt securities are to be so payable;
- any deletions from, modifications of or additions to the events of default or covenants of UTC with respect to that issue of debt securities, whether or not these events of default or covenants are consistent with the events of default or covenants contained in the indenture as originally executed;
- whether the provisions of Article Fourteen of the indenture described under "—Defeasance and Covenant Defeasance" apply to that issue of

debt securities and any change to those provisions that apply to that issue of debt securities;

- provisions, if any, granting special rights to the holders of that issue of debt securities if any specified events occur;
- the designation of any security registrars, paying agents, depositaries or exchange rate agents for that issue of debt securities;
- whether that issue of debt securities is to be issuable as registered securities, bearer securities or both, whether any debt securities
  of that issue are to be issuable initially in temporary global form and whether any debt securities of that issue are to be issuable in
  permanent global form with or without coupons and, if so, whether beneficial owners of interests in any permanent global debt
  security may exchange these interests for debt securities of like tenor of any authorized form and denomination and the
  circumstances under which any exchanges of this kind may occur, and whether registered securities may be exchanged for bearer
  securities (if permitted by applicable laws and regulations) and the circumstances under which and the place or places where
  exchanges of this kind, if permitted, may be made;
- the person to whom any interest on any registered security will be payable, if other than the person in whose name that debt security (or one or more predecessor securities) is registered at the close of business on the regular record date for the interest, the manner in which, or the person to whom, any interest on any bearer security will be payable, if otherwise than in exchange for the coupons appertaining to the bearer security as they individually mature, and the extent to which, or the manner in which, any interest payable on a temporary global debt security on an interest payment date will be paid;
- if the debt securities of that issue are to be issued upon the exercise of warrants, the time, manner and place for the debt securities to be authenticated and delivered;
- whether and under what circumstances UTC will pay additional amounts as contemplated by Section 1010 of the indenture on that
  issue of debt securities to any holder who is not a United States person in respect of any tax, assessment or governmental charge,
  including any modification to the definition of "United States person" as contained in the indenture as originally executed, and, if so,
  whether and on what terms UTC will have the option to redeem the debt securities rather than pay additional amounts;
- the manner in which principal, premium, if any, and interest, if any, will be payable;
- if applicable, a discussion of United States federal income tax, accounting or other special considerations;
- the manner in which debt securities of that issue will be transferable; and
- any other terms, conditions, rights and preferences, or limitations on rights and preferences, of that issue of debt securities consistent with the provisions of the indenture.

If any series of debt securities are sold for, are payable in or are denominated in one or more foreign currencies, currency units or composite currencies, applicable restrictions, elections, tax consequences, specific terms and other information with respect to that series of debt securities and such currencies, currency units or composite currencies will be set forth in the related prospectus supplement.

The terms, if any, on which debt securities of any series may be convertible into shares of UTC common stock, including conditions upon

which conversion or options to convert are contingent, will be described in the related prospectus supplement. Those terms will include provisions as to whether conversion is mandatory, at the option of the holder or at the option of UTC. The terms may also include provisions under which the number of shares of UTC common stock to be received by holders upon conversion may be adjusted.

We may issue debt securities other than the debt securities described in this prospectus. There is no requirement that any other debt securities that we issue be issued under the indenture. Thus, any other debt securities that we issue may be issued under other indentures or documentation, containing provisions different from those included in the indenture or applicable to one or more issues of the debt securities described in this prospectus.

#### Indenture Provisions Relating to the Possible Issuance of One or More Series of Debt Securities

The debt securities described in this prospectus and additional unsubordinated, unsecured debt securities of UTC unlimited as to aggregate principal amount may be issued in one or more series under the indenture (Section 301). The debt securities described in this prospectus and any additional debt securities so issued under the indenture are collectively referred to in this prospectus, while a single trustee is acting for all holders of these debt securities, as the "indenture securities." The indenture also provides that there may be more than one trustee under the indenture, each with respect to one or more different series of indenture securities. See "—Trustee" for a discussion of the trustee's responsibilities if there is more than one trustee under the indenture. At a time when two or more trustees are acting, each with respect to only certain series of debt securities, the term "indenture securities" as used in this prospectus will mean the one or more series with respect to which each respective trustee is acting. If there is more than one trustee under the indenture, the powers and trust obligations of each trustee as described in this prospectus will extend only to the one or more series of indenture securities for which it is trustee. The effect of the provisions contemplating that at a particular time there might be more than one trustee acting is that, in that event, those indenture securities (whether of one or more than one series) for which each trustee is acting would be treated as if issued under a separate indenture.

Debt securities may be issued under the indenture as original issue discount securities to be offered and sold at a substantial discount from their principal amount. Special federal income tax, accounting and other considerations applicable to original issue discount securities will be described under a separate heading in the prospectus supplement relating to any original issue discount securities.

The indenture provides that in determining whether the holders of the requisite principal amount of indenture securities of a series then outstanding have given any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent or waiver under the indenture or whether a quorum is present at a meeting of holders of indenture securities:

- the principal amount of an original issue discount security that will be deemed to be outstanding will be the amount of the principal of that security that would be due and payable as of the date of that determination upon acceleration of the maturity of the security;
- the principal amount of an indenture security denominated in one or more foreign currencies or currency units will be deemed to be the U.S. dollar equivalent, determined on the date of original issuance of that indenture security, of the principal amount or, in the case of an original issue discount security, the U.S. dollar equivalent, on the date of original issuance of the original issue discount security, of the amount determined as provided in the immediately preceding bullet point; and
- the principal amount that will be deemed outstanding of an indenture security issued as an indexed

security whose terms provide that its principal amount payable at stated maturity may be more or less than principal face amount at original issuance will be deemed to be its principal face amount at original issuance (Section 101).

# Denominations, Registration and Transfer

Debt securities of a series may be issuable solely as registered securities, solely as bearer securities or as both registered securities and bearer securities. The indenture also provides that debt securities of a series may be issuable in global form. Unless otherwise indicated in any related prospectus supplement, bearer securities will have interest coupons attached (Sections 201, 203).

Unless otherwise provided in the prospectus supplement:

- registered securities denominated in U.S. dollars, other than registered securities issued in global form, will be issued in denominations of \$1,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000;
- registered securities issued in global form may be issued in any denomination;
- bearer securities denominated in U.S. dollars, other than bearer securities issued in global form, will be issued in denominations of \$5,000; and
- bearer securities issued in global form may be issued in any denomination (Section 302).

Registered securities of any series will be exchangeable for other registered securities of the same series and of a like aggregate principal amount and tenor of different authorized denominations. If provided in any related prospectus supplement, bearer securities, with all unmatured coupons, except as provided in the following sentence, and all matured coupons in default, of a particular series may be converted into registered securities of the same series of any authorized denominations and of a like aggregate principal amount and tenor. Bearer securities surrendered in a permitted exchange for registered securities during the period (1) on and from a regular record date and before the opening of business at the appropriate office or agency on the relevant interest payment date or (2) on and from a special record date and before the opening of business at the appropriate office or agency on the related proposed date for payment of defaulted interest, will be surrendered without the coupon relating to that interest payment date or proposed date for payment of interest. Interest to be paid on that interest payment date or proposed date of payment will not be payable in respect of the registered security issued in exchange for the bearer security. Instead, the interest will be payable only to the holder of the coupon when due in accordance with the terms of the indenture. Unless otherwise specified in any related prospectus supplement, bearer securities will not be issued in exchange for registered securities (Section 305).

Debt securities may be presented for exchange or conversion as provided above, and registered securities may be presented for registration of transfer, at the corporate trust office of the trustee or at the office of any transfer agent designated by UTC for this purpose with respect to any series of debt securities and referred to in any related prospectus supplement. Registered securities presented for registration of transfer must be presented with a duly executed form of transfer. Each registered security will specify the proper form of transfer. No service charge will be made for any transfer or exchange of the debt securities, but UTC may require payment of a sum to cover any tax or other governmental charge payable in connection with the transfer or exchange (Section 305). Any transfer, conversion or exchange will be effected if the trustee or transfer agent, as the case may be, is satisfied with the documents of title and identity of the person making the request. If a prospectus supplement refers to any transfer agents initially designated by UTC with respect to any series of debt securities in addition to the trustee, UTC may at any time rescind the designation of any of these transfer agents or approve a change in the location through which any of these transfer agents acts, except that:

 if debt securities of a series are issuable solely as registered securities, UTC will be required to maintain a transfer agent in each place of payment for that series; and

 if debt securities of a series may be issuable as both registered securities and as bearer securities, UTC will be required to maintain a transfer agent in a place of payment for that series located outside the United States, in addition to the trustee.

UTC may at any time designate additional transfer agents with respect to any series of debt securities (Section 1002).

If debt securities of any series are redeemed in part, UTC will not be required to:

- issue, register the transfer of, exchange or convert debt securities of any series during a period beginning at the opening of business 15 days before any debt securities of that series are selected to be redeemed and ending at the close of business on:
  - (a) if debt securities of the series are issuable only as registered securities, the day of mailing of the relevant notice of redemption;
  - (b) if debt securities of the series are issuable as bearer securities, the day of the first publication of the relevant notice of redemption; or
  - (c) if debt securities of the series are also issuable as registered securities and there is no publication, the mailing of the relevant notice of redemption; or
- register the transfer of or exchange any portion of any registered security called for redemption, except the unredeemed portion of any registered security being redeemed in part; or
- exchange any bearer security called for redemption, except to exchange the bearer security for a registered security of that series and like tenor which is simultaneously surrendered for redemption (Section 305).

# Payment, Paying Agents and Exchange Rate Agents

Unless otherwise provided in any related prospectus supplement, principal, premium, if any, and interest, if any, on bearer securities will be payable, subject to any applicable laws and regulations, at the offices of one or more paying agents outside the United States as UTC may designate from time to time (Section 1002). At the option of the holder, payment on bearer securities also may be made by transfer to an account maintained by the payee with a bank located outside the United States (Section 307). Unless otherwise provided in any related prospectus supplement, payment of interest on any bearer securities on or before maturity will be made only against surrender of the individual coupons for the interest installments as the coupons mature (Section 1001). Unless otherwise provided in any related prospectus supplement, no payment with respect to any bearer security will be made at any office or agency of UTC in the United States or by check mailed to any address in the United States or by transfer to an account maintained with a bank located in the United States. However, payments of principal, premium, if any, and interest, if any, on bearer securities payable in dollars will be made at the office of UTC's paying agent in The City of New York if, but only if, payment of the full amount of principal, premium, if any, and interest, if any, in dollars at all offices or agencies outside the United States is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions (Section 1002).

Unless otherwise provided in any related prospectus supplement, principal, premium, if any, and interest, if any, on registered securities will be payable at any office or agency to be maintained by UTC in The City of New York, except that at the option of UTC interest may be paid:

- by check mailed to the address of the person entitled to the interest as that address appears in the security register; or
- by wire transfer to an account maintained by the person entitled to the interest as specified in the security register (Sections 307 and 1002).



Unless otherwise provided in any related prospectus supplement, payment of any installments of interest on any registered security will be made to the person in whose name the registered security is registered at the close of business on the regular record date for interest (Section 307).

Any paying agent in the United States and any paying agent outside the United States initially designated by UTC for the debt securities will be named in any related prospectus supplement. UTC may at any time designate additional paying agents or rescind the designation of any paying agent or approve a change in the office through which any paying agent acts. However:

- if debt securities of a series are issuable only as registered securities, UTC will be required to maintain a paying agent in each place of payment for that series;
- if debt securities of a series are also issuable as bearer securities, UTC will be required to maintain:
  - (a) a paying agent in The City of New York for payments with respect to any registered securities of that series and for payments with respect to bearer securities of that series in the limited circumstances described above, but not otherwise; and
  - (b) a paying agent in a place of payment located outside the United States where debt securities of that series and any coupons appertaining to the securities may be presented and surrendered for payment; and
- if the debt securities of a series are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange located outside the United States and that stock exchange so requires, UTC will maintain a paying agent in Luxembourg or any other required city located outside the United States, as the case may be, for the debt securities of that series (Section 1002).

Unless otherwise provided in any related prospectus supplement, UTC will maintain with respect to any series of debt securities denominated or payable in one or more foreign currencies, currency units or composite currencies one or more exchange rate agents to make the foreign exchange determinations as are or may be specified in this prospectus and the prospectus supplement (Sections 313 and 1002).

All moneys paid by UTC to the trustee or a paying agent for the payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest, if any, on any debt security which remains unclaimed at the end of two years after the principal, premium or interest becomes due and payable will be repaid to UTC, and the holder of the debt security or any related coupon will thereafter look only to UTC for payment of these amounts (Section 1003).

# The Indenture Does Not Limit UTC's Indebtedness, Prevent Dividends or Generally Prevent Highly Leveraged Transactions

The indenture does not

- limit the amount of unsecured indebtedness which UTC or any subsidiary may incur; or
- limit the payment of dividends by UTC or its acquisition of any of its equity securities.

When we say "subsidiary," we mean any corporation of which at the time of determination UTC, directly and/or indirectly through one or more subsidiaries, owns more than 50% of the shares of voting stock (Section 101).

Except as may be included in a supplemental indenture covering a specific series of offered debt securities and described in the related prospectus supplement and except for the covenants described below under "—Liens," "—Sales and Leasebacks" and "—Restriction on Merger and Sales of Assets," there are no covenants or any other provisions which may afford holders of debt securities protection in the event of a highly leveraged transaction which may or may not result in a change of control of UTC.

#### Liens

So long as any debt securities are outstanding under the indenture:

- UTC will not itself, and will not permit any wholly-owned domestic manufacturing subsidiary to, create, incur, issue or assume any debt secured by any lien on any principal property owned by UTC or any wholly-owned domestic manufacturing subsidiary; and
- UTC will not itself, and will not permit any subsidiary to, create, incur, issue or assume any debt secured by any lien on any shares of stock or debt of any wholly-owned domestic manufacturing subsidiary.

When we say "wholly-owned domestic manufacturing subsidiary" we mean any subsidiary of which, at the time of determination, UTC directly and/or indirectly owns all of the outstanding capital stock (other than directors' qualifying shares) and which, at the time of determination, is primarily engaged in manufacturing, except a subsidiary:

- which neither transacts any substantial portion of its business nor regularly maintains any substantial portion of its fixed assets within the United States; or
- which is engaged primarily in the finance business including, without limitation, financing the operations of, or the purchase of
  products which are products of or incorporate products of, UTC and/or its subsidiaries; or
- which is primarily engaged in ownership and development of real estate, construction of buildings, or related activities, or a combination of the foregoing (Section 101).

When we say "debt," we mean notes, bonds, debentures or other similar evidences of indebtedness for money borrowed (Section 1008).

When we say "liens," we mean pledges, mortgages, liens, encumbrances and other security interests (Section 1008).

When we say "principal property," we mean any manufacturing plant or warehouse, together with the land upon which it is erected and fixtures constituting a part of the manufacturing plant or warehouse, owned by UTC or any wholly-owned domestic manufacturing subsidiary and located in the United States, the gross book value (without deduction of any reserve for depreciation) of which on the date as of which the determination is being made is an amount which exceeds 1% of consolidated net tangible assets, other than any manufacturing plant or warehouse or any portion of the manufacturing plant or warehouse or any fixture:

- which is financed by industrial development bonds; or
- which, in the opinion of the board of directors of UTC, is not of material importance to the total business conducted by UTC and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole (Section 101).

However, any of the actions described in the first two bullet points under "-Liens" above may be taken if

- the indenture securities are equally and ratably secured; or
- the aggregate principal amount of the secured debt then outstanding plus the attributable debt of UTC and its wholly-owned domestic manufacturing subsidiaries in respect of sale and leaseback transactions described below involving principal properties entered into after the date when UTC first issues securities pursuant to the indenture, other than transactions that are permitted as described in the second bullet point under "—Sales and Leasebacks," would not exceed 10% of consolidated net tangible assets.

When we say "attributable debt," we mean, as to any particular lease under which any person is at the time liable for a term of more than 12 months, at any date as of which the amount of attributable debt is to be determined, the total net amount of rent required to be paid

by the person under the lease during the remaining term of the lease (excluding any subsequent renewal or other extension options held by the lessee and excluding amounts on account of maintenance and repairs, services, taxes and similar charges, and contingent rents), discounted from the respective due dates of the payments under the lease to the date of determination at the rate of 15% per annum, compounded monthly (Section 101).

When we say "consolidated net tangible assets," we mean the total amount of assets (less applicable reserves and other properly deductible items) after deducting:

- all current liabilities, excluding any current liabilities which are by their terms extendible or renewable at the option of the obligor on the liabilities to a time more than 12 months after the time as of which the amount of current liabilities is being computed; and
- all goodwill, trade names, trademarks, patents, unamortized debt discount and expense and other like intangibles, all as set forth on the most recent balance sheet of UTC and its subsidiaries and computed in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (Section 101).

This restriction on liens will not apply to debt secured by permitted liens. Therefore, for purposes of this restriction, debt secured by permitted liens will be excluded in computing secured debt. Permitted liens include:

- liens existing as of the date when UTC first issued securities pursuant to the indenture;
- liens existing on any property of or shares of stock or debt of any corporation at the time it became or becomes a wholly-owned domestic manufacturing subsidiary, or arising after that time (a) pursuant to contractual commitments entered into before the corporation became a wholly-owned domestic manufacturing subsidiary and (b) otherwise than in connection with the borrowing of money arranged after the corporation became a wholly-owned domestic manufacturing subsidiary;
- liens on property (including shares of stock or debt of a wholly-owned domestic manufacturing subsidiary) existing at the time of acquisition and certain purchase money or similar liens;
- liens to secure specified exploration, drilling, development, operation, construction, alteration, repair or improvement costs;
- liens securing debt owing by a subsidiary to UTC or to a wholly- owned domestic manufacturing subsidiary;
- liens in connection with legal proceedings or arising in the ordinary course of business and not in connection with the borrowing of money;
- liens in connection with government contracts, including the assignment of moneys due or to become due on government contracts;
- materialmen's, carriers', mechanics', workmen's, repairmen's or other like liens which are not overdue or which are being contested in good faith in appropriate proceedings; and
- extensions, substitutions, replacements or renewals of the foregoing.

In addition, production payments and other financial arrangements with regard to oil, gas and mineral properties are not deemed to involve liens securing debt (Section 1008).

#### Sales and Leasebacks

So long as any debt securities are outstanding under the indenture, UTC will not, and will not permit any wholly-owned domestic manufacturing subsidiary to, enter into any sale and leaseback transaction after the date when UTC first issued securities pursuant to the

indenture, covering any principal property, which was or is owned or leased by UTC or a wholly-owned domestic manufacturing subsidiary and which has been or is to be sold or transferred more than 120 days after the completion of construction and commencement of full operation of that principal property.

However, a sale and leaseback transaction of this kind will not be prohibited if

- attributable debt of UTC and its wholly-owned domestic manufacturing subsidiaries in respect of the sale and leaseback transaction and all other sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the date when UTC first issued securities pursuant to the indenture (other than sale and leaseback transactions that are permitted as described in the next bullet point), plus the aggregate principal amount of debt secured by liens on principal properties then outstanding (not otherwise permitted or excepted) without equally and ratably securing the indenture securities, would not exceed 10% of the consolidated net tangible assets;
- an amount equal to the greater of the net proceeds of the sale or transfer or the fair market value of the principal property sold or transferred (as determined by UTC) is applied within 120 days to the voluntary retirement of the indenture securities or other indebtedness of UTC (other than indebtedness subordinated to the indenture securities) or indebtedness of a wholly-owned domestic manufacturing subsidiary, for money borrowed, maturing more than 12 months after the voluntary retirement;
- the lease is for a temporary period not exceeding three years; or
- the lease is with UTC or another wholly owned domestic manufacturing subsidiary (Section 1009).

#### **Restriction on Merger and Sales of Assets**

UTC may not consolidate with or merge into any other corporation, or convey, lease or transfer its properties and assets substantially as an entirety to any person, unless all four of the following conditions are satisfied:

- immediately after the transaction, no event of default (or event which with notice or lapse of time, or both, would be an event of default) with respect to the indenture securities will have happened and be continuing;
- the corporation formed by the consolidation or into which UTC is merged or the person which will have received the transfer or lease
  of UTC's properties and assets will assume UTC's obligation for the due and punctual payment of the principal, premium, if any, and
  interest (including all additional amounts, if any, payable as contemplated by Section 1010 of the indenture) on the indenture
  securities and the performance and observance of every covenant to be performed by UTC under the indenture, and will be
  organized under the laws of the United States of America, one of the States thereof or the District of Columbia;
- if any principal property of UTC or of any wholly-owned domestic manufacturing subsidiary, or any shares of stock or debt of any wholly-owned domestic manufacturing subsidiary, would become subject to any lien, the indenture securities outstanding will be secured, as to that principal property, equally and ratably with or prior to, the debt which upon the transaction would become secured by the lien unless UTC or the wholly-owned domestic manufacturing subsidiary could create the lien under the indenture without equally and ratably securing the indenture securities; and

• UTC has delivered to the trustee an officer's certificate and opinion of counsel, each stating that the transaction complies with these conditions (Sections 801 and 803).

For the purpose of providing the equal and ratable security referred to in the preceding sentence, the outstanding principal amount of original issue discount securities and indexed securities will mean that amount which would at the time of providing the security be due and payable pursuant to Section 502 of the indenture and the terms of the original issue discount securities and indexed securities upon their acceleration, and the extent of the equal and ratable security will be adjusted, to the extent permitted by law, as and when this amount changes over time pursuant to the terms of such original issue discount securities (Sections 502 and 803). See "—Events of Default" for further information about acceleration of original issue discount securities and indexed securities.

In the event of any transaction other than a lease described in and complying with the four conditions listed in the immediately preceding paragraph, UTC would be discharged from all obligations and covenants under the indenture and the indenture securities, and could be dissolved and liquidated (Section 802).

#### **Defeasance and Covenant Defeasance**

The indenture provides that, if the provisions of Article Fourteen are made applicable without modification to the debt securities of or within any series and any related coupons pursuant to Section 301 of the indenture, UTC may elect either "defeasance" or "covenant defeasance" as described below:

- "defeasance" means that UTC may elect to defease and be discharged from any and all obligations with respect to the debt securities and any related coupons, except for the obligation to pay additional amounts, if any, upon the occurrence of specified events of tax, assessment or governmental charge with respect to payments on the debt securities and the obligations to register the transfer or exchange of the debt securities and any related coupons, to replace temporary or mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen debt securities and any related coupons, to maintain an office or agency in respect of the debt securities and any related coupons and to hold moneys for payment in trust;
- "covenant defeasance" means that UTC may elect to be released from its obligations with respect to the debt securities and any related coupons that are described under "—Liens" and "—Sales and Leasebacks," or, if provided pursuant to Section 301 of the indenture, its obligations with respect to any other covenant, and any omission to comply with these obligations will not constitute a default or an event of default with respect to the debt securities and any related coupons.

To elect either defeasance or covenant defeasance, UTC must irrevocably deposit with the trustee or another qualifying trustee, in trust, an amount, which through the payment of principal and interest in accordance with the terms of the government obligations (as defined in the next paragraph) will provide money in an amount sufficient to pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest on the debt securities and any related coupons, and any mandatory sinking fund or analogous payments on them, on the scheduled due dates for them. This amount must be deposited in the currency, currencies or currency unit in which the debt securities and any related coupons are then specified as payable at stated maturity, and/or government obligations applicable to the debt securities and any related coupons. This applicability will be determined on the basis of the currency or currency unit in which the debt securities are then specified as payable at stated maturity. If so specified in any related prospectus supplement, a trust of this kind may only be established if, among other things, UTC has delivered to the trustee an opinion of counsel (as specified in the indenture) to the effect that the holders of the debt securities and any related coupons will not recognize income, gain or loss

for United States federal income tax purposes as a result of the defeasance or covenant defeasance and will be subject to United States federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if the defeasance or covenant defeasance had not occurred. In the case of defeasance, the opinion of counsel must refer to and be based upon a ruling of the Internal Revenue Service or a change in applicable United States federal income tax law occurring after April 1, 1990.

Unless otherwise specified in any related prospectus supplement, "government obligations" means securities which are:

- direct obligations of the government which issued the currency in which the debt securities are payable; or
- obligations of a person controlled or supervised by and acting as an agency or instrumentality of the government which issued the currency in which the debt securities of the applicable series are payable, the payment of which is unconditionally guaranteed by that government, which, in either case, are full faith and credit obligations of that government payable in that currency and are not callable or redeemable at the option of the issuer of the obligations and will also include specified depository receipts issued by a bank or trust company as custodian with respect to any government obligation of this kind (Section 101 and Article Fourteen).

Unless otherwise provided in any related prospectus supplement, if, after UTC has deposited funds and/or government obligations to effect defeasance with respect to any debt securities:

- the holder of a debt security is entitled to, and does, elect pursuant to the terms of the debt security to receive payment in a currency or currency unit other than that in which the deposit has been made in respect of the debt security; or
- the currency or currency unit in which the deposit has been made in respect of the debt security ceases to be used by its government of issuance;

then the indebtedness represented by the debt security will be deemed to have been, and will be, fully discharged and satisfied through the payment of the principal, premium, if any, and interest, if any, on the debt security as they become due out of the proceeds yielded by converting the amount so deposited in respect of the debt security into the currency or currency unit in which the debt security becomes payable as a result of the holder's election or the government's cessation of usage based on the applicable market exchange rate (as defined in the prospectus supplement relating to the debt security) for that currency or currency unit in effect on the second business day prior to each payment date. If the holder elected to receive payment in a currency other than the currency deposited in trust as described in the first bullet point of this paragraph, the currency deposited in trust will be converted from time to time. However, if there is a cessation of usage of the currency or currency unit by its government of issuance which results in currency unit (as nearly as possible) in effect at the time of cessation (Section 1405). Unless otherwise provided in any related prospectus supplement, all payments of principal, premium, if any, and interest, if any, on any debt security that is payable in a foreign currency or currency unit that ceases to be used by its government of issuance will be made in U.S. dollars (Section 312).

If UTC effects covenant defeasance with respect to any debt securities and any related coupons and the debt securities and any related coupons are declared due and payable because of the occurrence of any event of default other than the event of default described in the third bullet point under "—Events of Default" with respect to Sections 1008 and 1009 of the indenture (which sections would no longer be applicable to the debt securities or any related coupons) or described in the third or fifth bullet

point under "-Events of Default" with respect to any other covenant with respect to which there has been defeasance, the amount of cash and the amounts of principal and interest payable on the government obligations on deposit with the trustee will be sufficient to pay amounts due on the debt securities and any related coupons at the time of their stated maturity but may not be sufficient to pay amounts due on the debt securities and any related coupons at the time of their stated maturity but may not be sufficient to pay amounts due on the debt securities and any related coupons at the time of the acceleration resulting from the event of default. However, UTC would remain liable to make payment of the amounts due at the time of acceleration.

The prospectus supplement may further describe the provisions, if any, permitting defeasance or covenant defeasance, including any modifications to the provisions described above, with respect to the debt securities of or within a particular series and any related coupons.

#### **Modification and Waiver**

Modifications and amendments of the indenture may be made by UTC and the trustee, with the consent of the holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of outstanding indenture securities which are affected by the modification or amendment. However, the consent of the holder of each indenture security affected by the modification or amendment is required for any modification or amendment that would, among other things:

- change the stated maturity of principal of, or any installment of interest or premium, if any, on, or change the obligation of UTC to pay any additional amounts as contemplated by Section 1010 of the indenture on, any security;
- reduce the principal amount of, or the rate of interest on, or any premium payable on redemption of, any security, or reduce the amount of principal of an original issue discount security that would be due and payable upon declaration of acceleration of the maturity of the original issue discount security or would be provable in bankruptcy;
- change the place of payment where, or the coin, currency, currencies, currency unit or composite currency in which payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest on any security is payable;
- impair the right to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment on or with respect to any security;
- reduce the above stated percentage of holders of indenture securities necessary to modify or amend the indenture or to consent to any waiver under the indenture; or
- modify the foregoing requirements (Section 902).

The holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of outstanding indenture securities may, on behalf of all holders of outstanding indenture securities, waive compliance by UTC with the restrictions described in this prospectus under "—Liens" and "—Sales and Leasebacks" and some of the restrictions described under "—Restriction on Merger and Sales of Assets" and compliance with specified other covenants of UTC contained in the indenture (Section 1011).

The indenture contains provisions for convening meetings of the holders of indenture securities of a series if indenture securities of that series are issuable as bearer securities (Section 1501). A meeting may be called at any time by the trustee, and also, upon request, by UTC or the holders of at least 10% in principal amount of the indenture securities of that series outstanding. If a meeting is called, notice must be given as provided in the indenture (Section 1502). Except for any consent which must be given by the holder of each indenture security affected by a modification or amendment of the indenture, as described above, any resolution presented at a meeting or adjourned meeting at which a quorum is present may be adopted by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority in principal amount of the indenture securites of that series; *provided, however*, that any resolution with respect to any consent or waiver which may be given by the holders of not less than a specified percentage in principal amount

of the indenture securities of a series may be adopted at a meeting or adjourned meeting at which a quorum is present only by the affirmative vote of that specified percentage in principal amount of the indenture securities of that series; and provided further that any resolution with respect to any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action which may be made, given or taken by the holders of a specified percentage, which is less than a majority in principal amount of indenture securities of a series may be adopted at a meeting or adjourned meeting duly reconvened at which a quorum is present by the affirmative vote of the holders of that specified percentage in principal amount of the indenture securities of that series. Any resolution passed or decision taken at any meeting of holders of indenture securities of any series duly held in accordance with the indenture will be binding on all holders of indenture securities of that series and the related coupons. The quorum at any meeting called to adopt a resolution, and at any reconvened meeting, will be persons holding or representing a majority in principal amount of the indenture securities of a series. However, if any action is to be taken at the meeting with respect to a consent or waiver which may be given by the holders of not less than a specified percentage in principal amount of the indenture securities of a series, the persons holding or representing that specified percentage in principal amount of the indenture securities of a series, the persons holding or representing that specified percentage in principal amount of the indenture securities of a series, the persons holding or representing that specified percentage in principal amount of the indenture securities of the series will constitute a quorum (Section 1504).

#### **Events of Default**

The indenture defines an "event of default" with respect to any series of indenture securities as being any one of the following events:

- default in the payment of any interest upon any indenture security of the series and any related coupon when due, continued for 30 days;
- default in the payment of the principal of, or premium, if any, on an indenture security of the series at its maturity;
- default in the performance of any other covenant of UTC in the indenture, continued for 60 days after written notice as provided in the indenture, other than a covenant included in the indenture solely for the benefit of series of indenture securities other than the series in guestion or a covenant default the performance of which would be covered by the fifth bullet point below;
- specified events in bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization; and
- any other event of default provided with respect to indenture securities of the series.

No event of default provided with respect to a particular series of indenture securities, except as to events described in the third and fourth bullet points above, necessarily constitutes an event of default with respect to any other series of indenture securities (Section 501).

If an event of default described in the first, second or fifth bullet point above with respect to indenture securities of any series at the time outstanding occurs and is continuing, then the

trustee or the holders of not less than 25% in principal amount of the outstanding indenture securities of that series may declare the principal amount of all of the indenture securities of that series to be due and payable immediately, or, if the indenture securities of that series are original issue discount securities or indexed securities, the trustee or the same minimum number of holders may declare the portion of the principal amount that is specified in the terms of that series to be due and payable immediately. If an event of default described in the third or fourth bullet point above occurs and is continuing, then the trustee or the holders of not less than 25% in principal amount of all the indenture securities then outstanding may declare the principal amount of all of the outstanding indenture securities to be due and payable immediately, or, if any indenture securities are original issue discount securities or indexed securities, the trustee or the same minimum number of holders may declare the principal amount of all of the outstanding indenture securities to be due and payable immediately, or, if any indenture securities are original issue discount securities or indexed securities, the trustee or the same minimum number of holders may declare the portion of the principal amount that is specified in the terms of that series to be due and payable immediately. However, at any time after a declaration of acceleration with respect to

outstanding indenture securities of a series (or of all outstanding indenture securities, as the case may be) has been made, but before a judgment or decree for payment of the money has been obtained by the trustee as provided in the indenture, the holders of a majority in principal amount of outstanding indenture securities of that series or of all outstanding indenture securities, as the case may be, may, subject to specified conditions, rescind and annul the acceleration if all events of default, other than the nonpayment of accelerated principal or specified portion of accelerated principal, with respect to outstanding indenture securities of the series or of all outstanding indenture securities, as the case may be, have been cured or waived as provided in the indenture (Section 502). The indenture also provides that the holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the outstanding indenture securities of a series or of all outstanding indenture securities, as the case may be, may, subject to specified limitations, waive any past default and its consequences (Section 513). The prospectus supplement relating to any series of debt securities which are original issue discount securities or indexed securities will describe the particular provisions relating to acceleration of a portion of the principal amount of the original issue discount securities or indexed securities upon the occurrence and continuation of an event of default.

In case an event of default with respect to the indenture securities of a series has occurred and is continuing, the trustee will be obligated to exercise those rights and powers vested in it by the indenture with respect to the series that a prudent person would exercise and to use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise as a prudent person would use under the circumstances in the conduct of his or her own affairs (Section 601).

Subject to the provisions of the indenture relating to the duties of the trustee in case an event of default occurs and is continuing, the trustee is under no obligation to exercise any of the rights or powers under the indenture at the request, order or direction of any of the holders unless the holders have offered to the trustee reasonable security or indemnity (Section 603). Subject to these provisions for the indemnification of the trustee and specified limitations contained in the indenture, the holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding indenture securities, as the case may be, will have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred on the trustee (Section 512).

UTC will be required to furnish to the trustee annually a statement as to the fulfillment by UTC of all of its obligations under the indenture (Section 1004).

**Governing Law** 

The indenture and the debt securities will be governed and construed in accordance with the law of the State of New York.

#### Trustee

The trustee may resign or be removed with respect to one or more series of indenture securities and a successor trustee may be appointed to act with respect to the series (Section 610). If two or more persons are acting as trustee with respect to different series of indenture securities, each trustee will be a trustee of a trust under the indenture separate and apart from the trust administered by any other trustee (Section 611), and any action described in this prospectus to be taken by the "trustee" may then be taken by each trustee with respect to, and only with respect to, the one or more series of indenture securities for which it is trustee.

#### Listing

Unless otherwise provided in any related prospectus supplement or any pricing supplement to the prospectus supplement, the debt securities will not be listed on any securities exchange.

#### DESCRIPTION OF DEBT WARRANTS

UTC may issue warrants for the purchase of debt securities. Debt warrants may be issued separately or together with debt securities, currency warrants (which are described under "Description of Currency Warrants") or stock-index warrants (which are described under "Description of Stock-Index Warrants").

We will issue any series of debt warrants under a separate debt warrant agreement to be entered into between UTC and one or more banks or trust companies, as debt warrant agent, all as will be set forth in the prospectus supplement relating to that series. A form of debt warrant agreement, including a form of debt warrant certificate representing the debt warrants, is incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. See "Where You Can Find More Information" for information on how to obtain a copy of the form of debt warrant agreement.

The following description of the debt warrant agreements and the debt warrant certificates and summaries of some provisions of the debt warrant agreements and the debt warrant certificates do not describe every aspect of the debt warrants and are subject to, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to, all the provisions of the applicable debt warrant agreements and the debt warrant certificates, including definitions of terms used in the debt warrant agreements and not otherwise defined in this prospectus. For example, in this section we use some terms that have been given special meaning in the debt warrant agreements. We also include references in parentheses to some sections of the debt warrant agreements. Whenever we refer to particular sections or defined terms of the debt warrant agreements in this prospectus or in any related prospectus supplement, those sections or defined terms are incorporated by reference in this prospectus or in the related prospectus supplement.

#### Terms of the Debt Warrants To Be Described in the Prospectus Supplement

The particular terms of each issue of debt warrants, the debt warrant agreement relating to the debt warrants and the debt warrant certificates representing debt warrants will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement. This description will include:

- the initial offering price;
- the currency or currency unit in which the price for the debt warrants is payable;
- the title, aggregate principal amount and terms of the debt securities purchasable upon exercise of the debt warrants;
- the title and terms of any related debt securities with which the debt warrants are issued and the number of the debt warrants issued with each debt security;
- the date, if any, on and after which the debt warrants and the related debt securities will be separately transferable;
- the principal amount of debt securities purchasable upon exercise of each debt warrant and the price at which that principal amount of debt securities may be purchased upon exercise of each debt warrant;
- the date on which the right to exercise the debt warrants will commence and the date on which this right will expire;
- if applicable, a discussion of United States federal income tax, accounting or other considerations applicable to the debt warrants;
- whether the debt warrants represented by the debt warrant certificates will be issued in registered or bearer form, and, if registered, where they may be transferred and registered; and
- any other terms of the debt warrants.

Debt warrant certificates will be exchangeable for new debt warrant certificates of different denominations and, if in registered form, may be presented for registration of transfer and debt warrants may be exercised at the corporate trust office of the debt warrant agent or any other office indicated in the related prospectus supplement (Section 3.01). Before the exercise of debt warrants, holders of debt warrants will not be entitled to payments of principal, premium, if any, or interest, if any, on the debt securities purchasable upon exercise of the debt warrants, or to enforce any of the covenants in the indenture (Section 4.01).

#### **Exercise of Debt Warrants**

Unless otherwise provided in the related prospectus supplement, each debt warrant will entitle the holder of debt warrants to purchase for cash the principal amount of debt securities at the exercise price that will in each case be set forth in, or be determinable as set forth in, the related prospectus supplement (Sections 2.01 and 2.03). Debt warrants may be exercised at any time up to the close of business on the expiration date specified in the prospectus supplement relating to the debt warrants. After the close of business on the expiration date or any later date to which the expiration date may be extended by UTC, unexercised debt warrants will become void (Section 2.02).

Debt warrants may be exercised as set forth in the prospectus supplement relating to the debt warrants. Upon receipt of payment and the debt warrant certificate properly completed and duly executed at the corporate trust office of the debt warrant agent or any other office indicated in the prospectus supplement, UTC will, as soon as practicable, forward the debt securities purchasable upon exercise of the debt warrants to the person entitled to them. If fewer than all of the debt warrants represented by the debt warrant certificate are exercised, a new debt warrant certificate will be issued for the remaining amount of debt warrants (Section 2.03).

If you hold your interest in a debt warrant indirectly, you should check with the institution through which you hold your interest in the debt warrant to determine how these provisions will apply to you. See "Legal Ownership" for a general description of the procedures and rights applicable to indirect owners of debt warrants.

#### Modifications

The debt warrant agreement may be amended by UTC and the debt warrant agent, without the consent of the holder of any debt warrant certificate, for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, or of curing, correcting or supplementing any defective provision contained in the debt warrant agreement, or making any provisions in regard to matters or questions arising under the debt warrant agreement that UTC may deem necessary or desirable; *provided* that the amendment may not adversely affect the interest of the holders of debt warrant certificates in any material respect (Section 6.03). UTC and the debt warrant agent also may modify or amend the debt warrant agreement and the terms of the debt warrants, with the consent of the owners of not less than a majority in number of the then outstanding unexercised debt warrants may be exercised or otherwise materially and adversely affects the exercise price, shortens the period of time during which the debt warrants may be exercised or otherwise materially and adversely affects the exercise rights of the owners of the debt warrants or reduces the number of debt warrants the consent of whose owners is required for modification or amendment of the debt warrant agreement or the terms of the debt warrants may be made only with the consent of the owners affected by the modification or amendment.

#### Merger, Consolidation, Sale or Other Dispositions

Under the debt warrant agreement, UTC may, to the extent permitted in the indenture, consolidate with, or sell or convey all or substantially all of its assets to, or merge with or into, any other corporation. If at any time there is a merger, consolidation, sale, transfer, conveyance or other disposition of substantially all of the assets of UTC, the successor or assuming corporation will succeed to and be substituted for UTC, with the same effect as if it had been named in the debt warrant agreement and in the debt warrants as UTC. UTC will then be relieved of any further obligation under the debt warrant agreement or under the debt warrants (Sections 6.01 and 6.02).

#### Enforceability of Rights; Governing Law

The debt warrant agent will act solely as an agent of UTC in connection with the issuance

and exercise of debt warrants and will not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any holder of a debt warrant certificate or any owner of a beneficial interest in debt warrants (Section 5.02). The holders of debt warrant certificates, without the consent of the debt warrant agent, the trustee, the holder of any debt securities issued upon exercise of debt warrants or the holder of any other debt warrant certificates, may, on their own behalf and for their own benefit, enforce, and may institute and maintain any suit, action or proceeding against UTC suitable to enforce, or otherwise in respect of, their rights to exercise debt warrants evidenced by their debt warrant certificates (Section 4.02). Except as may otherwise be provided in the related prospectus supplement, each issue of debt warrants and the applicable debt warrant agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of the State of New York (Section 6.07).

#### DESCRIPTION OF CURRENCY WARRANTS

UTC may issue warrants to receive from UTC the cash value in U.S. dollars of the right to purchase or to sell the foreign currencies or units of two or more foreign currencies that will be designated by UTC at the time of offering. Currency warrants may be issued:

- in the form of currency put warrants, entitling their owners to receive from UTC the currency warrant cash settlement value (as defined under "Terms of the Currency Warrants to Be Described in the Prospectus Supplement" below) in U.S. dollars of the right to sell a specified foreign base currency or currency unit or units for a specified amount of U.S. dollars;
- in the form of currency call warrants, entitling their owners to receive from UTC the currency warrant cash settlement value in U.S. dollars of the right to purchase a specified amount of a base currency for a specified amount of U.S. dollars; or
- in any other form that is specified in the related prospectus supplement.

Currency warrants may be issued separately or together with debt securities, debt warrants or stock-index warrants.

A currency warrant will be settled only in U.S. dollars and accordingly will not require or entitle an owner to sell, deliver, purchase or take delivery of any other currency or currency unit.

We will issue any series of currency warrants under a separate currency warrant agreement to be entered into between UTC and one or more banks or trust companies, as currency warrant agents, all as will be described in the prospectus supplement relating to that series. A form of currency warrant agreement, including a form of currency warrant certificate representing the currency warrants, is incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. See "Where You Can Find More Information" for information on how to obtain a copy of the form of currency warrant agreement.

The following description of the currency warrant agreements and the currency warrant certificates and summaries of some provisions of the currency warrant agreements and the currency warrant certificates do not describe every aspect of the currency warrants and are subject to, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to, all the provisions of the applicable currency warrant agreements and the currency warrant certificates, including definitions of terms used in the currency warrant agreements and not otherwise defined in this prospectus. For example, in this section we use some terms that have been given special meaning in the currency warrant agreements. We also include references in parentheses to some sections of the currency warrant agreements. Whenever we refer to particular sections or defined terms of the currency warrant agreements in this prospectus or in any related prospectus supplement, those sections or defined terms are incorporated by reference in this prospectus or in the related prospectus supplement.

#### Terms of the Currency Warrants To Be Described in the Prospectus Supplement

The particular terms of each issue of currency warrants, the currency warrant

agreement relating to the currency warrants and the currency warrant certificates representing the currency warrants will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement. This description will include:

- the aggregate amount of the currency warrants;
- the initial offering price;
- whether the currency warrants shall be currency put warrants, currency call warrants, or otherwise;
- the formula for determining the currency warrant cash settlement value, if applicable, of each currency warrant;
- the procedures and conditions relating to the exercise of the currency warrants;
- the circumstances which will cause the currency warrants to be deemed to be automatically exercised;
- any minimum number of currency warrants which must be exercised at any one time, other than upon automatic exercise;
- the date on which the right to exercise the currency warrants will commence and the date on which the right will expire;
- the identity of the currency warrant agent;
- if applicable, a discussion of United States federal income tax, accounting or other considerations applicable to the currency warrants; and
- any other terms of the currency warrants.

If the currency warrants are to be offered either in the form of currency put warrants or currency call warrants, an owner will receive a cash payment upon exercise only if the currency warrants have a cash settlement value in excess of zero at that time. The spot exchange rate of the applicable base currency, as compared to the U.S. dollar upon exercise, will determine, together with the strike price, whether the currency warrants have a cash settlement value on any given day prior to their expiration. The strike price for a currency warrant will be the amount of the base currency that the holder has the right to sell, in the case of a currency put warrant, or purchase, in the case of a currency call warrant, in exchange for one U.S. dollar. The currency warrants are expected to be "out-of-the-money" (i.e., the cash settlement value will be zero) when initially sold and will be "in-the-money" (i.e., their cash settlement value will exceed zero) if, in the case of currency put warrants, the base currency depreciates against the U.S. dollar to the extent that one U.S. dollar is worth more than the strike price or, in the case of currency call warrants, the base currency appreciates against the U.S. dollar to the extent that one U.S. dollar is worth less than the strike price.

The "exercise date" of the currency warrants will be defined in the applicable prospectus supplement. "Cash settlement value" on an exercise date of currency put warrants is an amount which is the greater of:

- zero; and
- an amount calculated as follows:

constant – (<u>constant x strike price</u>) spot rate.

The cash settlement value on an exercise date of currency call warrants is an amount which is the greater of:

- zero; and
- an amount calculated as follows:

(<u>constant x strike price</u>) – constant. spot rate

The constant will be a specified fixed amount, for example, 50. The spot rate means the spot exchange rate of the base currency for U.S. dollars on the exercise date.

# **Book-Entry Procedures and Settlement**

Except as may otherwise be provided in the related prospectus supplement, each issue of currency warrants will be issued in book-entry form and represented by a single global



currency warrant certificate, registered in the name of a depositary or its nominees. The cash settlement value on exercise of a currency warrant will be paid by the currency warrant agent to the depositary or to a depositary participant. See "Legal Ownership" for a further description of bookentry issuance and other important matters relating to the currency warrants.

### **Exercise of Currency Warrants**

Unless otherwise provided in the related prospectus supplement, each currency warrant will entitle the beneficial owner to the cash settlement value of the currency warrant on the applicable exercise date, in each case as these terms will further be defined in the related prospectus supplement (Section 2.02). If not exercised prior to 3:00 p.m., New York City time, on the fifth business day preceding the expiration date, currency warrants will be deemed automatically exercised on the expiration date (Section 2.03). Currency warrants may also be deemed to be automatically exercised if they are delisted. Procedures for exercise of the currency warrants will be set out in the related prospectus supplement. In addition, if you hold your interest in a currency warrant indirectly, either because it has been issued in global form or because you otherwise hold it in street name, you should check with the institution through which you hold your interest in the currency warrant to determine how these provisions will apply to you. See "Legal Ownership" for a general description of the procedures and rights that may be applicable to indirect owners of currency warrants.

# Listing

Unless otherwise provided in any related prospectus supplement, each issue of currency warrants will be listed on a national securities exchange as specified in that prospectus supplement, subject only to official notice of issuance, as a precondition to the sale of any of the currency warrants. If the currency warrants are delisted from, or permanently suspended from trading on, that exchange, and, at or before the delisting or suspension, the currency warrants have not been listed on another national securities exchange, currency warrants not previously exercised will be deemed automatically exercised on the date the delisting or permanent trading suspension becomes effective (Section 2.03). The cash settlement value to be paid if the currency warrants are thus deemed automatically exercised will be as described in the related prospectus supplement. UTC will notify holders of currency warrants as soon as practicable of the delisting or permanent trading suspension. The applicable currency warrant agreement will contain a covenant of UTC not to seek delisting of the currency warrants from, or permanent suspension of their trading on, the exchange on which they are listed (Section 2.04).

#### Modifications

The currency warrant agreement and the terms of the currency warrants may be amended by UTC and the currency warrant agent, without the consent of the beneficial owners or the registered holder, for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, or of curing, correcting or supplementing any defective or inconsistent provision contained in the currency warrant agreement and the terms of the currency warrants, or in any other manner which UTC may deem necessary or desirable and which will not adversely affect the interests of the beneficial owners (Section 6.01).

UTC and the currency warrant agent also may modify or amend the currency warrant agreement and the terms of the currency warrants with the consent of the owners of not less than a majority in number of the then outstanding unexercised currency warrants affected, provided that no modification or amendment that increases the strike price in the case of a currency put warrant, decreases the strike price in the case of a currency call warrant, shortens the period of time during which the currency warrants may be exercised or otherwise materially and adversely affects the exercise rights of the owners of the currency warrants or reduces the number of outstanding currency warrants the consent of whose owners is required for modification or amendment of the

currency warrant agreement or the terms of the currency warrants may be made without the consent of the owners affected by the modification or amendment (Section 6.01).

# Merger, Consolidation, Sale or Other Dispositions

If at any time there is a merger, consolidation, sale, transfer, conveyance or other disposition of substantially all of the assets of UTC, then the successor or assuming corporation will succeed to and be substituted for UTC, with the same effect as if it had been named in the currency warrant agreement and in the currency warrants as UTC. UTC will then be relieved of any further obligation under the currency warrant agreement or under the currency warrants, and UTC as the predecessor corporation may then or at any later time be dissolved, wound up or liquidated (Section 3.02).

# Enforceability of Rights by Owners; Governing Law

The currency warrant agent will act solely as an agent of UTC in connection with the issuance and exercise of currency warrants and will not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any owner of a beneficial interest in currency warrants or with the registered holder of the currency warrants (Section 5.02). The currency warrant agent will have no duty or responsibility in case of any default by UTC in the performance of its obligations under the currency warrant agreement or currency warrant certificate including, without limitation, any duty or responsibility to initiate any proceedings at law or otherwise or to make any demand upon UTC (Section 5.02). Owners may, without the consent of the currency warrant agent, enforce by appropriate legal action, on their own behalf, their right to exercise, and to receive payment for, their currency warrants (Section 3.01). Except as may otherwise be provided in the applicable prospectus supplement, each issue of currency warrants and the applicable currency warrant agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of the State of New York (Section 6.05).

#### DESCRIPTION OF STOCK-INDEX WARRANTS

UTC may issue warrants entitling the owners of the warrants to receive, upon exercise, an amount in cash determined by reference to decreases or increases in the level of a specified stock index which may be based on one or more U.S. or foreign stocks or a combination of U.S. or foreign stocks. Stock-index warrants may be issued:

- in the form of stock-index put warrants, entitling their owners to receive from UTC the stock-index cash settlement value in cash in U.S. dollars, which amount will be determined by reference to the amount, if any, by which the exercise price exceeds the index value at the time of exercise; and
- in the form of stock-index call warrants, entitling their owners to receive from UTC the stock-index cash settlement value in cash in U.S. dollars, which amount will be determined by reference to the amount, if any, by which the index value at the time of exercise exceeds the exercise price.

The "stock-index cash settlement value," the "exercise price" and the "index value" will be defined in the applicable prospectus supplement. Stock-index warrants may be issued separately or together with debt securities, debt warrants or currency warrants.

The prospectus supplement related to a particular series of stock-index warrants will set forth the formula by which the stock-index cash settlement value will be determined, including any multipliers, if applicable. In addition, if so specified in the related prospectus supplement, following the occurrence of a market disruption event (as defined in that prospectus supplement), the stock-index cash settlement value may be determined on a different basis than upon normal exercise of a stock-index warrant. Unless otherwise indicated in the related prospectus supplement, a stock-index warrant will be settled only in cash in U.S.

dollars, which is the only permissible method of settlement under exchange rules currently approved by the SEC. Accordingly, a stock-index warrant will not require or entitle an owner to sell, deliver, purchase or take delivery of any shares of any underlying stock or any other securities. The owners will not be entitled to any of the rights of the holders of any underlying stock.

We will issue any series of stock-index warrants under a separate stock-index warrant agreement to be entered into between UTC and one or more banks or trust companies, as stock-index warrant agents, all as will be described in the prospectus supplement relating to that series. A form of stock-index warrant agreement, including a form of stock-index warrant certificate, is incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. See "Where You Can Find More Information" for information on how to obtain a copy of the form of stock-index warrant agreement.

The following description of the stock-index warrant agreements and the stock-index warrant certificates and summaries of some provisions of the stock-index warrants and the stock-index warrant certificates do not describe every aspect of the stock-index warrants and are subject to, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to, all of the provisions of the applicable stock-index warrant agreements and the stock-index warrant certificates, including definitions of terms used in the stock-index warrant agreements and not otherwise defined in this prospectus. For example, in this section we use some terms that have been given special meaning in the stock-index warrant agreements. We also include references in parentheses to some sections of the stock-index warrant agreements. Whenever we refer to particular sections or defined terms of the stock-index warrant agreements in this prospectus or in any related prospectus supplement, those sections or defined terms are incorporated by reference in this prospectus or in the related prospectus supplement.

# Terms of the Stock-Index Warrants To Be Described in the Prospectus Supplement

The particular terms of each issue of stock-index warrants, the stock-index warrant agreement relating to the stock-index warrants and the stock-index warrant certificate representing the stock-index warrants will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement. This description will include:

- the aggregate amount of the stock-index warrants;
- the initial offering price of the stock-index warrants;
- the stock index for the stock-index warrants, which may be based on one or more U.S. or foreign stocks or a combination of U.S. or foreign stocks and may be a preexisting U.S. or foreign stock index compiled and published by a third party or an index based on one or more underlying stock or stocks selected by UTC solely in connection with the issuance of the stock-index warrants, and specified information regarding the stock index and the underlying stock or stocks;
- whether the stock-index warrants are puts, calls or otherwise;
- the date on which the right to exercise the stock-index warrants commences and the date on which this right expires;
- the manner in which the stock-index warrants may be exercised;
- the minimum number, if any, of the stock-index warrants exercisable at any one time;
- the maximum number, if any, of the stock-index warrants that may, subject to UTC's election, be exercised by all owners (or by any person or entity) on any day;
- any provisions for the automatic exercise of the stock-index warrants other than at expiration;

- the method of providing for a substitute index or otherwise determining the amount payable in connection with the exercise of the stock-index warrants if the stock index changes or ceases to be made available by its publisher, which determination will be made by an independent expert;
- if applicable, a discussion of United States federal income tax, accounting or other considerations applicable to the stock-index warrants;
- any provisions permitting an owner to condition an exercise notice on the absence of specified changes in the index value after the exercise date; and
- any other terms of the stock-index warrants.

#### **Book-Entry Procedures and Settlement**

Except as may otherwise be provided in the related prospectus supplement, each issue of stock-index warrants will be issued in bookentry form and represented by a single global stock-index warrant certificate, registered in the name of a depositary or its nominees. The stockindex cash settlement value will be paid by the stock-index warrant agent to the depositary or to a depositary participant. See "Legal Ownership" for a further description of book-entry issuance and other important matters relating to the stock-index warrants.

#### **Exercise of Stock-Index Warrants**

Unless otherwise provided in the related prospectus supplement, each stock-index warrant will entitle the owner to the stock-index cash settlement value of the stock-index warrant on the applicable valuation date, in each case as these terms will further be defined in the related prospectus supplement (Section 2.02). If not exercised prior to 3:00 p.m., New York City time, on the stock-index warrant expiration date, stock-index warrants will be deemed automatically exercised on the stock-index warrant expiration date (Section 2.03). Procedures for exercise of the stock-index warrants will be described in the related prospectus supplement. In addition, if you hold your interest in a stock-index warrant indirectly, either because it has been issued in global form or because you otherwise hold it in street name, you should check with the institution through which you hold your interest in the stock-index warrant to determine how these provisions will apply to you. See "Legal Ownership" for a general description of the procedures and rights applicable to indirect holders of stock-index warrants.

#### Listing

Unless otherwise provided in any related prospectus supplement, each issue of stock-index warrants will be listed on a national securities exchange, as specified in that prospectus supplement, subject only to official notice of issuance, as a pre-condition to the sale of any of the stock-index warrants. It may be necessary in certain circumstances for that national securities exchange to obtain the approval of the SEC in connection with any listing of the stock-index warrants. If the stock-index warrants are delisted from, or permanently suspended from trading on, the exchange, and, at or before the delisting or suspension, the stock-index warrants have not been listed on another national securities exchange, stock-index warrants not previously exercised will be deemed automatically exercised on the date the delisting or permanent trading suspension becomes effective (Section 2.03). The stock-index cash settlement value to be paid if the stock-index warrants are then deemed automatically exercised will be described in the related prospectus supplement. UTC will notify holders of stock-index warrants as soon as practicable of the delisting or permanent trading suspension. The applicable stock-index warrant agreement will contain a covenant of UTC not to seek delisting of the stock-index warrants from, or permanent suspension of their trading on the exchange on which they are listed (Section 2.05).

# Modifications

The stock-index warrant agreement and the terms of the stock-index warrants may be amended by UTC and the stock-index warrant agent, without the consent of the beneficial owners or the registered holder, for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, or of curing, correcting or supplementing any defective or inconsistent provision contained in the stock-index warrant agreement and the terms of the stock-index warrants, or in any other manner which UTC may deem necessary or desirable and which will not adversely affect the interests of the owners (Section 6.01).

UTC and the stock-index warrant agent also may modify or amend the stock-index warrant agreement and the terms of the stock-index warrants, with the consent of the owners of not less than a majority in number of the then outstanding unexercised stock-index warrants affected, *provided* that no such modification or amendment that increases the exercise price in the case of a stock-index call warrant, decreases the exercise price in the case of a stock-index warrants may be exercised or otherwise materially and adversely affects the exercise rights of the owners of the stock-index warrants or reduces the number of outstanding stock-index warrants the consent of whose owners is required for modification or amendment of the stock-index warrant agreement or the terms of the stock-index warrants may be made without the consent of the owners affected by the modification or amendment (Section 6.01).

#### Merger, Consolidation, Sale or Other Dispositions

If at any time there is a merger, consolidation, sale, transfer, conveyance or other disposition of substantially all of the assets of UTC, then the successor or assuming corporation will succeed to and be substituted for UTC, with the same effect as if it had been named in the stock-index warrant agreement and in the stock-index warrants as UTC. UTC will then be relieved of any further obligation under the stock-index warrant agreement or under the stock-index warrants, and UTC as the predecessor corporation may then or at any later time be dissolved, wound up or liquidated (Section 3.02).

# Enforceability of Rights by Owners; Governing Law

The stock-index warrant agent will act solely as an agent of UTC in connection with the issuance and exercise of stock-index warrants and will not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any owner of a beneficial interest in stock-index warrants or with the registered holder of the stock-index warrants (Section 5.02). The stock-index warrant agent will have no duty or responsibility in case of any default by UTC in the performance of its obligations under the stock-index warrant agreement or stock-index warrant certificate including, without limitation, any duty or responsibility to initiate any proceedings at law or otherwise or to make any demand upon UTC (Section 5.02). Owners may, without the consent of the stock-index warrant agent, enforce by appropriate legal action, on their own behalf, their right to exercise, and to receive payment for, their stock-index warrants (Section 3.01). Except as may otherwise be provided in the applicable prospectus supplement, each issue of stock-index warrants and the applicable stock-index warrant agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of the State of New York (Section 6.05).

#### DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

UTC's authorized capital stock consists of 4,000,000,000 shares of common stock, par value \$1.00 per share, and 250,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$1.00 per share. The following briefly summarizes the material terms of UTC's common stock, outstanding preferred stock, restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws. These summaries do not describe every aspect of these securities and documents and are subject, and are qualified in their entirety by reference, to all the provisions of the restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws. Our restated

certificate of incorporation is an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 and our amended and restated bylaws are an exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004. See "Where You Can Find More Information" for information on how to obtain a copy of these documents.

#### **Common Stock**

UTC's common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "UTX." As of June 30, 2007, UTC had 991,783,733 shares of common stock outstanding, all of which are fully paid and nonassessable.

Common stockholders are entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. For the purpose of electing directors, common stockholders have cumulative voting rights. This means that each common stockholder has a number of votes equal to the number of shares of common stock held by that stockholder multiplied by the number of directors to be elected. A common stockholder may cast all votes for a single director or may distribute them among two or more of the directors to be elected.

Common stockholders are entitled to share equally in the dividends, if any, that may be declared by the board of directors out of funds that are legally available to pay dividends, but only after payment of any dividends required to be paid on outstanding preferred stock. Upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of UTC, the common stockholders will be entitled to share ratably in all assets of UTC remaining after we pay:

- all of our debts and other liabilities and
- any amounts we may owe to the holders of our preferred stock.

Common stockholders do not have any preemptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights. The rights, preferences and privileges of common stockholders are subject to the rights of the shareholders of any series of preferred stock that we have designated and issued or that we may designate and issue in the future.

Delaware law and our bylaws permit us to issue uncertificated shares of common stock. However, holders of uncertificated shares of our common stock may request certificates representing their ownership of common stock.

#### **Preferred Stock**

As noted above, the rights, preferences and privileges of common stockholders may be affected by the rights, preferences and privileges granted to holders of preferred stock. For this reason, you should be aware that UTC's board of directors has the authority, without further action by the stockholders, to issue shares of preferred stock in one or more series, and to fix the rights, preferences and privileges of each series, which may be greater than the rights of the common stock. It is not possible to state the actual effect of the issuance of any additional series of preferred stock upon the rights of common stockholders until the board of directors determines the specific rights of the holders of that series. However, the effects might include, among other things:

- restricting dividends on the common stock;
- diluting the voting power of the common stock;
- impairing the liquidation rights of the common stock; or
- delaying or preventing a change in control of UTC without further action by the stockholders.

As of June 30, 2007, UTC had no shares of preferred stock outstanding.

# Charter and Bylaw Provisions

At each annual meeting of stockholders, the entire board of directors is elected for a term of one year. UTC's restated bylaws provide that the board of directors may, from time to time,

designate the number of directors. Vacancies on the board resulting from an increase in the number of directors may generally be filled by a vote of the majority of the directors then in office, even if less than a quorum.

UTC's restated certificate of incorporation includes provisions eliminating the personal liability of our directors for monetary damages resulting from breaches of their fiduciary duty to the extent permitted by Delaware law. The restated bylaws include provisions indemnifying our directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law including under circumstances in which indemnification is otherwise discretionary, and permitting the board of directors to grant indemnification to employees and agents to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law.

UTC's restated bylaws establish advance notice procedures with respect to stockholder proposals and the nomination of candidates for election of directors, other than nominations made by or at the direction of UTC's board of directors. In addition, special meetings of stockholders may be called only by the board of directors or the chief executive officer.

The restated certificate of incorporation contains a "fair price" provision, providing that certain business combinations with any interested stockholder or affiliate of an interested stockholder may not be consummated without the affirmative vote of at least 80% of the votes entitled to be cast by the holders of the then-outstanding shares of capital stock of UTC entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting as a single class. The term "interested stockholder," as defined in the restated certificate of incorporation, generally means a person who owns at least 10% of the voting power of UTC's voting stock.

The business combinations to which the fair price provision applies include:

- a merger or consolidation;
- the sale or other disposition of assets having a fair market value of \$25,000,000 or more to an interested stockholder;
- the issuance or transfer of securities having an aggregate fair market value of \$25,000,000 or more by UTC or any subsidiary of UTC to an interested stockholder;
- the adoption of a plan of liquidation or dissolution proposed by or on behalf of an interested stockholder; and
- any reclassification of securities, recapitalization or other transaction which increases, directly or indirectly, the proportionate share holdings of an interested stockholder.

A significant purpose of the fair price provision is to deter a purchaser from using two-tiered pricing and similar unfair or discriminatory tactics in an attempt to acquire UTC. The affirmative vote of the holders of at least 80% of the voting power of voting stock of UTC is required to amend or repeal the fair price provision or adopt any provision inconsistent with it.

Under Delaware law, the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares entitled to vote on any matter is required to amend a corporation's certificate of incorporation or bylaws, unless a corporation's certificate of incorporation or bylaws, as the case may be, requires a greater percentage. As described above, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 80% of the voting power of the voting stock of UTC is required to amend or repeal certain provisions of UTC's restated certificate of incorporation.

Certain of the provisions of UTC's restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws discussed above could discourage a proxy contest or the acquisition of control of a substantial block of our stock. These provisions could also have the effect of discouraging a third party from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of UTC, even though an attempt to obtain control of UTC might be beneficial to UTC and its stockholders.

# **Change of Control**

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, under certain circumstances,

may make it more difficult for a person who is an "Interested Stockholder," as defined in Section 203, to effect various business combinations with a corporation for a three-year period. Under Delaware law, a corporation's certificate of incorporation or bylaws may exclude a corporation from the restrictions imposed by Section 203. However, UTC's restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws do not exclude us from these restrictions, and these restrictions apply to us.

# PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

UTC may sell the securities covered by this prospectus in any of three ways (or in any combination):

- to or through underwriters or dealers;
- directly to a limited number of purchasers or to a single purchaser; or
- through agents.

UTC may enter into derivative transactions with third parties, or sell securities not covered by this prospectus to third parties in privately negotiated transactions. If the related prospectus supplement so indicates, in connection with those derivatives, the third parties may sell securities covered by this prospectus and the related prospectus supplement, including in short sale transactions. If so, the third party may use securities pledged by UTC or borrowed from UTC or others to settle those sales or to close out any related open borrowings of stock and may use securities received from UTC in settlement of those derivatives to close out any related open borrowings of stock. The third party in such sale transactions will be an underwriter and, if not identified in this prospectus, will be identified in the related prospectus supplement (or a post-effective amendment to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part). Such underwriters may include, among others, Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Citigroup Global Markets Inc.

The accompanying prospectus supplement will set forth the terms of the offering of the securities covered by this prospectus, including:

- the name or names of any underwriters, dealers or agents and the amounts of securities underwritten or purchased by each of them;
- the initial public offering price of the securities and the proceeds to UTC and any discounts, commissions or concessions allowed or reallowed or paid to dealers; and
- any securities exchanges on which the securities may be listed.

Any initial public offering price and any discounts or concessions allowed or reallowed or paid to dealers may be changed from time to time.

Underwriters or the third parties described above may offer and sell the offered securities from time to time in one or more transactions, including negotiated transactions, at a fixed public offering price or at varying prices determined at the time of sale. If UTC uses underwriters in the sale of any securities, the securities will be acquired by the underwriters for their own account and may be resold from time to time in one or more transactions described above. The securities may be offered to the public either through underwriting syndicates represented by managing underwriters or directly by underwriters. Generally, the underwriters' obligations to purchase the securities will be subject to customary conditions. The underwriters will be obligated to purchase all of the offered securities if they purchase any of the offered securities.

UTC may sell the securities through agents from time to time. The related prospectus supplement will name any agent involved in the offer or sale of the securities and any commissions UTC pays to them. Generally, any agent will be acting on a best efforts basis for the period of its appointment.

UTC may authorize underwriters, dealers or agents to solicit offers by certain purchasers to purchase the securities from UTC at the public offering price set forth in the prospectus supplement pursuant to delayed delivery contracts providing for payment and delivery on a specified date in the future. The contracts will be subject only to those conditions set forth in the related prospectus supplement, and the related prospectus supplement will set forth any commissions UTC pays for solicitation of these contracts.

Certain persons participating in this offering may engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of the securities. Specifically, in connection with underwritten offerings of the offered securities and in accordance with applicable law and industry practice, the underwriters may over-allot and may bid for, and purchase, the securities in the open market.

Agents, underwriters and other third parties described above that participate in the distribution of the offered securities may be underwriters as defined in the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (Securities Act), and any discounts or commissions they receive from UTC and any profit on their resale of the securities may be treated as underwriting discounts and commissions under the Securities Act. UTC may have agreements with the agents, underwriters and those other third parties to indemnify them against specified civil liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act or to contribute to payments they may be required to make in respect of those liabilities. Agents, underwriters and those other third parties may engage in transactions with or perform services for UTC in the ordinary course of their businesses.

#### VALIDITY OF THE SECURITIES

The validity of the securities described in this prospectus will be passed upon for UTC by Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP, New York, New York and for any underwriters or agents, as the case may be, by Sullivan & Cromwell LLP, New York, New York.

#### INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The financial statements, financial statement schedule and management's assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting (which is included in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting) incorporated in this prospectus by reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 have been so incorporated in reliance on the reports of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

With respect to the unaudited financial information of UTC for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, and the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2007 and 2006, incorporated by reference in this prospectus, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP reported that they have applied limited procedures in accordance with professional standards for a review of such information. However, their separate reports dated April 20, 2007 and July 20, 2007, incorporated by reference in this prospectus, states that they did not audit and they do not express an opinion on that unaudited financial information. Accordingly, the degree of reliance on their reports on such information should be restricted in light of the limited nature of the review procedures applied.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is not subject to the liability provisions of Section 11 of the Securities Act for their reports on the unaudited financial information because neither of those reports is a "report" or a "part" of the registration statement prepared or certified by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP within the meaning of Sections 7 and 11 of the Securities Act.

#### WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. Our SEC filings are available to the public over the Internet at the SEC's web site at http://www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy any document we file at the SEC's

Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference room.

We maintain a web site at http://www.utc.com that contains information regarding our company, including copies of reports, proxy statements and other information we file with the SEC. Our web site, and the information contained on that site, or linked to that site, are not incorporated by reference into this prospectus and do not constitute a part of this prospectus.

The SEC allows us to "incorporate by reference" the information we file with them, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is an important part of this prospectus, and information that we file later with the SEC will automatically update and supersede this information. We incorporate by reference the documents listed below and any future filings made with the SEC under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14, or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, prior to the termination of the offering of the securities described in this prospectus.

- Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.
- Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2007 and June 30, 2007.

You may request a copy of these filings at no cost, by writing or telephoning us at the following address:

Charles D. Gill Senior Vice President and General Counsel United Technologies Corporation Hartford, Connecticut 06103 (860) 728-7000

You should rely only on the information incorporated by reference or provided in this prospectus or any related prospectus supplement. We have not authorized anyone else to provide you with different information. We are not making an offer to sell or seeking offers to buy these debt securities, warrants and common stock in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted. You should not assume that the information in this prospectus or any related prospectus supplement is accurate as of any date other than the date of the applicable document.

# PART II INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

## Item 14. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution.

The following table sets forth the various expenses payable by the Registrant in connection with the securities being registered hereby. Except as otherwise noted, all of the fees set forth below are estimates.

Filing Fee for Registration Statement	\$ *
Legal Fees and Expenses	190,000
Accounting Fees and Expenses	200,000
Trustee's Fees and Expenses (including counsel fees)	25,000
Printing and Engraving Fees	50,000
Rating Agency Fees	200,000
Miscellaneous	30,000
Total	\$ 695,000
	, ,

\* Deferred in accordance with Rules 456(b) and 457(r) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except for the registration fees applied in accordance with Rule 457(p) as described herein in footnote (1) to the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table.

### Item 15. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

Section 6.5 of UTC's Bylaws requires UTC to indemnify, to the full extent permitted from time to time under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, or DGCL, each person who is made or threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director, employee or officer of UTC.

Subsection (a) of Section 145 of the DGCL empowers a corporation to indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by or in the right of the corporation) by reason of the fact that the person is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by the person in connection with such action, suit or proceeding if the person acted in good faith and in a manner the person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, suit or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of *nolo contendere* or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which the person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to be in or not opposed to the best interest of the corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding in a manner which the person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to be in or not opposed to the best interest of the corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding in a manner which the person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to be in or not opposed to the best interest of the corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that the person's conduct was unlawful.

Subsection (b) of Section 145 of the DGCL empowers a corporation to indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in right of the corporation to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that such person acted in any of the capacities set forth above, against expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred by the person in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if the person acted in good faith and in a manner the person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation and except that no indemnification may be made

### **Table of Contents**

in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable to the corporation unless and only to the extent that the Court of Chancery or the court in which such action or suit was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses which the Court of Chancery or such other court shall deem proper.

Subsection (d) of Section 145 of the DGCL provides that any indemnification under subsections (a) and (b) of Section 145 (unless ordered by a court) shall be made by the corporation only as authorized in the specific case upon a determination that indemnification of the present or former director, officer, employee or agent is proper in the circumstances because the person has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in subsections (a) and (b) of Section 145. Such determination shall be made, with respect to a person who is a director or officer at the time of such determination, (1) by a majority vote of the directors who are not parties to such action, suit or proceeding, even though less than a quorum, or (2) by a committee of such directors designated by the majority vote of such directors, even though less than a quorum, or (3) if there are no such directors, or if such directors so direct, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion, or (4) by the stockholders.

Section 145 of the DGCL further provides that to the extent a present or former director or officer of a corporation has been successful on the merits or otherwise in the defense of any action, suit or proceeding referred to in subsections (a) and (b) of Section 145, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, such person shall be indemnified against expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection therewith and that such expenses may be paid by the corporation in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of such director or officer to repay such amount if it shall ultimately be determined that such person is not entitled to be indemnified by the corporation as authorized in Section 145 of the DGCL; that any indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, Section 145 shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which the indemnified, continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent and shall inure to the benefit of such person's heirs, executors and administrators; and empowers the corporation to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of any person and incurred by such person in any such capacity, or arising out of such person's status as such, whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify such person against such person adainst such person as a such person in any such capacity, or arising out of such person's status as such, whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify such person against such liabilities under Section 145.

As authorized by a resolution of the Board of Directors, UTC has purchased and maintains at its expense on behalf of directors, officers and managerial employees insurance, within certain limits, covering liabilities which may be incurred by them in such capacities.

Reference is made to the forms of Underwriting Agreement, Debt Warrant Agreement, Currency Warrant Agreement and Stock-Index Warrant Agreement included as Exhibits 1, 4(c), 4(d) and 4(e), respectively, hereto for a description of indemnification arrangements for offerings of debt securities, warrants or common stock pursuant thereto.

Article Ten of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of UTC provides that a director of UTC shall not be personally liable to UTC or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except for liability (i) for any breach of the director's duty of loyalty to UTC or its stockholders, (ii) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (iii) under Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation Law for payment of unlawful dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemption, or (iv) for any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

# **Table of Contents**

# Item 16. Exhibits.

See the "Exhibit Index," which follows the signature pages to this registration statement and is herein incorporated by reference.

## Item 17. Undertakings.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

- (1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:
  - (i) To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;

(ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than a 20 percent change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in the effective registration statement; and

(iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement;

provided, however, that paragraphs (i), (ii) and (iii) above do not apply if the registration statement is on Form S-3 and the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in reports filed with or furnished to the Commisson by the registrant pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by reference in the registration statement, or are contained in a form of prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) that is part of the registration statement.

(2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.

(4) That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, to any purchaser:

(i) Each prospectus filed by the Registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of the registration statement as of the date the filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in the registration statement; and

(ii) Each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), (b)(5), or (b)(7) as part of a registration statement in reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(1)(i), (vii) or (x) for the purpose of providing the information required by Section 10(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the earlier of the date such form of prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the date of the first contract of sale of securities in the offering described in the prospectus. As provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and any person

that is at that date an underwriter, such date shall be deemed to be a new effective date of the registration statement relating to the securities in the registration statement to which that prospectus relates, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof. *Provided, however,* that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement of the registration statement or statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such effective date.

(5) That, for the purpose of determining liability of the Registrant under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, to any purchaser in the initial distribution of the securities, the undersigned Registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned Registrant pursuant to this registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned Registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:

(i) Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned Registrant relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;

(ii) Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned Registrant or used or referred to by the undersigned Registrant;

(iii) The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the undersigned Registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned Registrant; and

(iv) Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned Registrant to the purchaser.

(6) That, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, each filing of the Registrant's annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.

(7) To file an application for the purpose of determining the eligibility of the trustee to act under subsection (a) of Section 310 of the Trust Indenture Act in accordance with the rules and regulations prescribed by the Commission under Section 305(b)(2) of the Trust Indenture Act.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question of whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

# SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the Registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all the requirements for filing on Form S-3 and has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Hartford, State of Connecticut, on the 24th day of July, 2007.

UNITED IEC	ED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION		
By:	/s/ JAMES E. GEISLER		
	James E. Geisler Vice President, Finance		
Ву:	/s/ GREGORY J. HAYES Gregory J. Hayes Vice President, Accounting and Finance; Controller		

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this registration statement has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities indicated, on the 24th day of July, 2007.

Signatures	Title
*	Chairman, Director and Chief Executive Officer
(George David)	-
*	Director, President and Chief Operating Officer
(Louis R. Chênevert)	
/s/ JAMES E. GEISLER	Vice President, Finance
(James E. Geisler)	
/s/ Gregory J. Hayes	Vice President, Accounting and Finance, Controller
(Gregory J. Hayes)	
	Director
(John V. Faraci)	
*	Director
(Jean-Pierre Garnier)	Director
*	
	Director
(Jamie S. Gorelick)	
*	Director
(Charles R. Lee)	Director
	11-5

# **Table of Contents**

Signatures	
*	Director
(Richard D. McCormick)	-
*	Director
(Harold W. McGraw III)	-
*	Director
(Richard B. Myers)	-
*	Director
(Frank P. Popoff)	
*	_ Director
(H. Patrick Swygert)	J
*	_ Director
(André Villeneuve)	
* (H. A. Wagner)	Director
*	
(Christine Todd Whitman)	Director
/s/ Charles D. Gill	
*Ву:	
(Charles D. Gill) (Attorney-in-Fact)	
	II-6

Title

Director

# EXHIBIT INDEX

IBIT BER	DESCRIPTION
1	Form of Underwriting Agreement for the offering of the debt securities being registered under this Registration Statement.*
4(a)	Amended and Restated Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2001, between UTC and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A. successor to The Bank of New York (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(a) to UTC's Registration Statement on Form S-3 File No. 333-60276, filed with the Commission on May 4, 2001).
4(b)	Form of Notes (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(b) to UTC's Registration Statement on Form S-3, File No. 33-40163, filed with the Commission on April 25, 1991).
4(c)	Form of Debt Warrant Agreement between UTC and the Debt Warrant Agent, including a form of Debt Warrant Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(c) to UTC's Registration Statement on Form S-3, File No. 33-40163, filed with the Commission on April 25, 1991).
4(d)	Form of Currency Warrant Agreement between UTC and the Currency Warrant Agent, including a form of Currency Warrant Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(d) to UTC's Registration Statement on Form S-3, File No. 33-40163, filed with the Commission on April 25, 1991).
4(e)	Form of Stock-Index Warrant Agreement between UTC and the Stock-Index Warrant Agent, including a form of Stock-Index Warrant Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(e) to UTC's Registration Statement on Form S-3, File No. 33-40163, filed with the Commission on April 25, 1991).
4(f)	Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(i) to UTC's Annual Report on Form 10-K, File No. 1-812, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006).
4(g)	Amended and Restated Bylaws, effective February 6, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(ii) to UTC's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-812, filed with the Commission on February 8, 2006).
5	Opinion of Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP as to the validity of the Securities.*
12(a)	Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges—for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005 and 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 12 to UTC's Annual Report on Form10-K, File No. 1-812, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006).
12(b)	Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges—for the six months ended June 30, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 12 to UTC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, File No. 1-812, for the quarter ended June 30, 2007).
15	Independent Accountant's Acknowledgement Letter relating to unaudited interim financial information.*
23(a)	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.*
23(b)	Consent of Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP (contained in their opinion filed as Exhibit 5 to this Registration Statement).
24	Powers of Attorney.*
25	Form T-1 Statement of Eligibility under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, of The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A.*

## United Technologies Corporation Debt Securities, Debt Warrants, Currency Warrants and Stock-Index Warrants

### **UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT**

To the Representatives of the several Underwriters named in the Pricing Agreement hereinafter described.

# Ladies and Gentlemen:

United Technologies Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), proposes to issue and sell from time to time (i) certain of its debt securities ("Debt Securities") and/or (ii) warrants to purchase Debt Securities ("Debt Warrants" and the Debt Securities issuable upon exercise of Debt Warrants, "Warrant Securities") and/or (iii) warrants to receive from the Company the cash value in U.S. dollars of the right to purchase or sell foreign currencies or units of two or more currencies ("Currency Warrants") and/or (iv) warrants entitling the holders thereof to receive, upon exercise, an amount in cash determined by reference to increases or decreases in the level of a specified stock Index which may be based on U.S. or foreign stocks or combination thereof ("Stock-Index Warrants"), in each case registered under the registration statement or statements referred to in Section 1(a) (together, the "Securities"). The Debt Securities will be issued under an Amended and Restated Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2001, as modified by the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (the "Indenture"), between the Company and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee, and the Debt Warrants, the Currency Warrants and the Stock-Index Warrants will be issued under one or more separate warrant agreements (each, a "Warrant Agreement") between the Company and one or more separate institutions, as warrant agent, each as identified in the separate Warrant Agreement respecting the Debt Warrants, the Currency Warrants or the Stock-Index Warrants covered thereby (each, a "Warrant Agent"). The particular terms of any issuance of Securities will be determined at the time of offering. Debt Securities, Debt Warrants, Currency Warrants and Stock-Index Warrants may be offered together or separately, and if offered together, the Debt Warrants, Currency Warrants and Stock-Index Warrants may detach from the Debt Securities after the time of offering. The Company intends to enter into one or more Pricing Agreements (each, a "Pricing Agreement" and together the "Pricing Agreements") in the form of Annex I hereto, with such additions and deletions as the parties thereto may determine, and, subject to the terms and conditions stated herein and therein, to issue and sell to the firms named in Schedule I to the applicable Pricing Agreement (such firms constituting the "Underwriters" with respect to such Pricing Agreement and the securities specified therein) the particular Securities specified in Schedule II to such Pricing Agreement (with respect to each such Pricing Agreement, the "Designated Securities"). Each Pricing Agreement shall constitute an agreement by the Company and the Underwriters to be bound by all of the provisions of this Underwriting Agreement.

, 20

1. *Representations and Warranties of the Company.* The Company represents and warrants to, and agrees with, the Underwriters with respect to each offering of Designated Securities that:

(a) One or more registration statements on Form S-3 in respect of the Securities have been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") and have become effective. Each such registration statement (including the material incorporated therein by reference and all exhibits thereto but excluding the Form T-1), as amended at the time of any Pricing Agreement is hereinafter referred to, with respect to the transaction contemplated by such Pricing Agreement, as a "Registration Statement" and collectively such registration statements are referred to as the "Registration Statements". The prospectus then forming a part of the Registration Statements or deemed to meet the requirements thereof (including the material incorporated therein by reference), as then amended, and as supplemented to reflect the terms of the Designated Securities and the terms of offering thereof, and any other material reflected in such supplement, in the form in which it is first filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act"), including any documents incorporated by reference therein as of the date of such filing, is hereinafter referred to as the "Prospectus" and such supplement is hereinafter referred to as the "Supplement".

(b) On its effective date and on the effective date of the most recent post-effective amendment thereto, each registration statement relating to the Securities (including the material incorporated therein by reference) conformed in all material respects with the requirements of the Act, the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (the "<u>Trust Indenture Act</u>"), and the rules and regulations of the Commission (the "<u>Rules and Regulations</u>"), and did not include any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, and, on the date of each Pricing Agreement and each time each Registration Statement is amended, each Registration Statement as then amended, and, each time the Prospectus is amended, on the date of each supplement thereto and on the date of the Supplement, the Prospectus as then amended or supplemented, will conform in all material respects with the requirements of the Act, the Trust Indenture Act and the Rules and Regulations and will not include any untrue statement of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the requirements of the Act, the Trust Indenture Act and the Rules and Regulations and will not include any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, except that the foregoing does not apply to statements in or omissions from any such documents based upon information furnished to the Company in writing by any Underwriter expressly for use therein.

(c) As of the "Time of Sale" in the applicable Pricing Agreement, the disclosure package comprised of (i) the Prospectus, as then amended and supplemented, (ii) the issuer free writing prospectuses as defined in Rule 433 (each, an "<u>Issuer Free Writing Prospectus</u>"), if any, identified in Schedule IV to such Pricing Agreement, and (iii) the final term sheet with respect to the Designated Securities prepared and filed pursuant to and in accordance with Section 3(b) hereto (the "<u>Final Term Sheet</u>") or, if no such Final Term Sheet is reasonably requested by the Underwriters pursuant to Section 3(b) hereto, the terms of the Designated Securities and the offering as set forth on Schedules I, II and III to the Pricing Agreement (together, the "<u>Disclosure Package</u>"), when taken together as a whole, do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The foregoing sentence does not apply to statements in or omissions from the Disclosure Package based upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by any Underwriter through the Representatives specifically for use therein, it being understood and agreed that the only such information furnished by or on behalf of any Underwriter consists of the information described as such in Schedule V to the applicable Pricing Agreement.

(d) Each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus and, if applicable, the Final Term Sheet, do not include any information that conflicts with the information contained in the Registration Statement, including any document incorporated therein and any Supplement deemed to be a part thereof that has not been superseded or modified.

(e) The Company has not been and is not an "ineligible issuer" as defined in Rule 405 under the Act at the times specified in the Act in connection with the offering of the Designated Securities.

2. Purchase and Offering. (a) Particular sales of Designated Securities may be made from time to time to the Underwriters of such Designated Securities for whom the firm or firms designated as representative or representatives of the Underwriters of such Designated Securities in the Pricing Agreement relating thereto will act as representative or representatives (as the case may be), which may include all such Underwriters in the absence of a syndicate (the "<u>Representatives</u>"). This Underwriting Agreement, alone, shall not be construed as an obligation of the Company to sell any of the Securities or as an obligation of any Underwriters to purchase any of the Securities. Such obligation shall come into existence only upon execution, by the Company and the Representatives named therein, of the Pricing Agreement with respect to the Designated Securities specified therein. Each Pricing Agreement shall specify the firms which will be Underwriters and their Representatives, the principal amount and/or the number of the Securities to be purchased by each Underwriter, the purchase price to be paid by the Underwriters, the initial public offering price, the terms of the Designated Securities not already specified in the Indenture, including, but not limited to, as applicable, currency in which denominated and/or payable, interest rate, maturity, redemption provisions and sinking fund requirements (if any), or not already specified in the Warrant Agreement and whether any of the Designated Securities may be sold pursuant to Delayed Delivery Contracts ("<u>Delayed Delivery Contracts</u>"). Each Pricing Agreement shall also specify the date, time and manner of delivery and payment for the Designated Securities. A Pricing Agreement shall be in the form of an executed writing (which may be in counterparts), and may be evidenced by an exchange of telegraphic communications or any other rapid transmission device designed to produce a written record of communications transmitted. The obligations of the Underwriters under this Agree

(b) Upon the execution of the Pricing Agreement applicable to any Designated Securities and authorization by the Representatives of the release of such Designated Securities, the several Underwriters propose to offer such Designated Securities for sale upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Supplement relating to such Designated Securities.

(c) Designated Securities to be purchased by each Underwriter pursuant to the Pricing Agreement relating thereto, in definitive form to the extent practicable (unless otherwise provided in the Pricing Agreement), and in such authorized denominations and, if applicable, registered in such names as the Representatives may request upon at least forty-eight hours' prior notice to the Company, shall be delivered by or on behalf of the Company to the Representatives for the account of such Underwriter, against payment by such Underwriter or on its behalf of the purchase price therefor by certified or official bank check or checks or otherwise as specified in such Pricing Agreement, payable to the order of the Company in the funds specified in such Pricing Agreement, all at the place and time and date specified in such Pricing Agreement with respect to Designated Securities not being sold pursuant to Delayed Delivery Contracts, or at such other place and time and date as the Representatives and the Company may agree upon in writing, such time and date being herein called the "<u>Time of Delivery</u>" for such Designated Securities.

3. Covenants of the Company. In connection with each offering of Designated Securities, the Company covenants and agrees with the Underwriters:

(a) To make no further amendment or any supplement to any Registration Statement or Prospectus after the Time of Sale set forth in the applicable Pricing Agreement relating to such Designated Securities and prior to the Time of Delivery for such Designated Securities which shall be reasonably disapproved by the Representatives for such Designated Securities promptly after reasonable notice thereof; to advise the Representatives promptly of any such amendment or supplement after such Time of

Delivery and furnish the Representatives with copies thereof and to file promptly all reports and any definitive proxy or information statements required to be filed by the Company with the Commission pursuant to Section 13(a) or (c), 14 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") for so long as the delivery of a prospectus is required in connection with the offering or sale of such Designated Securities (including in circumstances where such requirement may be satisfied pursuant to Rule 172), and during such same period to advise the Representatives, promptly after it receives notice thereof, (i) of the time when any amendment to any Registration Statement has become effective or any supplement to the Prospectus or any amended Prospectus has been filed, (ii) of the issuance by the Commission of any stop order or of any order preventing or suspending the use of any Prospectus, (iii) of the suspension of the qualification of such Designated Securities for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, (iv) of the initiation or threatening of any proceeding for any such purpose or pursuant to Section 8A of the Act, or (v) of any request by the Commission for the amending or supplementing of any Registration Statement or Prospectus or for additional information; and in the event of the issuance of any such stop order or of any Prospectus or suspending any such qualification, to use promptly its best efforts to obtain its withdrawal.

(b) If reasonably requested by the Underwriters, to prepare a Final Term Sheet, containing solely a description of the Designated Securities, in a form agreed to with the Underwriters and attached as Exhibit A to the Pricing Agreement, and to file such term sheet pursuant to Rule 433(d) within the time required by such Rule.

(c) If there occurs an event or development as a result of which (i) the Disclosure Package would include an untrue statement of a material fact or would omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances then prevailing, not misleading, or (ii) it is necessary to amend or supplement the Disclosure Package to comply with law, then the Company will notify promptly the Underwriters so that any use of the Disclosure Package may cease until it is amended or supplemented.

(d) Promptly from time to time to take such action as the Representatives may reasonably request to qualify such Designated Securities for offering and sale under the securities laws of such jurisdictions as the Representatives may request and to comply with such laws so as to permit the continuance of sales and dealings therein in such jurisdictions for as long as may be necessary to complete the distribution of such Designated Securities, *provided* that in connection therewith the Company shall not be required to qualify as a foreign corporation or to file a general consent to service of process in any jurisdiction.

(e) To furnish the Underwriters with copies of the Prospectus and any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus in such quantities as the Representatives may from time to time reasonably request, and, if the delivery of a prospectus is required at any time prior to the expiration of nine months after the date of the Pricing Agreement in connection with the offering or sale of such Designated Securities (including in circumstances where such requirement may be satisfied pursuant to Rule 172), and if at such time any event shall have occurred as a result of which (i) either the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus as then amended or supplemented (including pursuant to any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, if applicable) would include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made when either the Disclosure Package, such Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus is delivered, not misleading, (ii) if for any other reason it shall be necessary during such same period to amend or supplement the Disclosure Package or such Prospectus as then amended or supplemented, as the case may be, or to file under the Exchange Act any document incorporated by reference in the Disclosure Package, such Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, as the case may be, in order to comply with the Act or the

Trust Indenture Act, or (iii) following the issuance of an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus there occurs an event or development as a result of which such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus would conflict with the information then contained in the Registration Statement, in each case to notify the Representatives and upon their request to file such document and to prepare and furnish without charge to each Underwriter and to any dealer in securities as many copies as the Representatives may from time to time reasonably request of an amended Prospectus, a supplement to such Prospectus, the Disclosure Package (which may be an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, if applicable) or Issuer Free Writing Prospectus that will correct such statement or omission, effect such compliance or eliminate or correct such conflict.

(f) To make generally available to its security holders as soon as practicable, but in any event not later than eighteen months after the date of each Pricing Agreement, an earnings statement of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries (which need not be audited) complying with Section 11(a) of the Act and the Rules and Regulations (including, at the option of the Company, Rule 158 of the Act).

(g) During the period beginning from the date of the Pricing Agreement for such Designated Securities and continuing to and including the earlier of (i) the termination of trading restrictions on such Designated Securities, of which termination the Representatives agree to give the Company prompt notice confirmed in writing, and (ii) the Time of Delivery for such Designated Securities, not to offer, sell, contract to sell or otherwise dispose of any debt securities, and, if the Designated Securities include Debt Warrants, debt warrants to purchase debt securities, of the Company which mature more than one year after such Time of Delivery and which are substantially similar to such Designated Securities, and, if the Designated Securities include Currency Warrants or Stock-Index Warrants, currency warrants which are substantially similar to the Currency Warrants or stock-index warrants which are substantially similar to the Stock-Index Warrants, respectively, in all cases without the prior written consent of the Representatives, except pursuant to arrangements of which the Representatives have been advised by the Company prior to the time of execution of such Pricing Agreement, which advice is confirmed in writing to the Representatives by the end of the business day following the date of such Pricing Agreement.

(h) To pay all expenses incident to the performance of the Company's obligations under this Agreement, and to reimburse the Underwriters for any expenses (including fees and disbursements of counsel) incurred in connection with qualifications of the Designated Securities for sale and determination of their eligibility for investment under the laws of such jurisdictions as the Representatives designate and the printing of memoranda relating thereto and for any fees charged by investment rating agencies for rating of the Designated Securities.

3A. *Free Writing Prospectuses.* The Company agrees with the Underwriters that, in connection with each offering of Designated Securities, unless it obtains the prior written consent of the Representatives, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, and each Underwriter, severally and not jointly, agrees with the Company and the Representatives that, unless it has obtained or will obtain, as the case may be, the prior written consent of the Company and the Representatives, it has not made and will not make any offer relating to the Designated Securities that would constitute an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or that would otherwise constitute a "free writing prospectus" (as defined in Rule 405) required to be filed by the Company with the Commission or retained by the Company under Rule 433, other than the information contained in the Final Term Sheet; *provided* that the prior written consent of the parties hereto shall be deemed to have been given in respect of the Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses included in Schedule IV to the respective Pricing Agreement. Any such free writing prospectus." The Company agrees that (x) it has treated and will treat, as the case may be, each Permitted Free Writing Prospectus as an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus and (y) it has complied and will comply, as the case may be, with the requirements of

Rules 164 and 433 applicable to any Permitted Free Writing Prospectus, including in respect of timely filing with the Commission, legending and record keeping.

4. *Conditions.* The obligations of the Underwriters of any Designated Securities hereunder shall be subject, in the discretion of the Representatives, to the accuracy of the representations and warranties on the part of the Company herein, to the performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder and to the following additional conditions:

(a) No stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statements shall have been issued and no proceeding for that purpose or pursuant to Section 8A of the Act against the Company or related to the offering of such Designated Securities shall have been initiated or threatened by the Commission.

(b) Counsel for the Underwriters, Sullivan & Cromwell LLP, shall have furnished to the Representatives an opinion or opinions, dated the Time of Delivery of such Designated Securities, as to the incorporation of the Company, the Designated Securities, the Indenture and any Warrant Agreement, the Registration Statements, Disclosure Package and Prospectus (and any amendments or supplements thereto) and such other matters as the Representatives may reasonably request, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to them.

(c) Counsel for the Company, Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP, shall have furnished to the Representatives an opinion, dated the Time of Delivery of such Designated Securities, as to the incorporation of the Company, the Designated Securities, the Indenture and any Warrant Agreement, the Registration Statements, Disclosure Package and Prospectus (and any amendments or supplements thereto) and such other matters as the Representatives may reasonably request, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to them.

(d) The independent accountants of the Company who have certified the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statements shall have furnished to the Representatives (i) a letter dated the date of execution of this Agreement and (ii) a letter dated the Time of Delivery of such Designated Securities, in each case in form and substance satisfactory to the Representatives, to the effect set forth in Exhibit A hereto, and as to such other matters and/or in such other form as the Representatives and the Company may have agreed upon at or prior to the execution of the Pricing Agreement.

(e) Since the respective dates as of which information is given in the Disclosure Package there shall not have been any change in the financial position, shareowners' equity, results of operations, business, operations or properties of the Company and its subsidiaries, otherwise than as set forth or contemplated in the Disclosure Package, the effect of which is, when viewed in relation to the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole, in the reasonable judgment of the Representatives so material and adverse as to make it impracticable or inadvisable to proceed with the public offering or the delivery of the Designated Securities on the terms and in the manner contemplated in the Disclosure Package.

(f) Subsequent to the date of the Pricing Agreement relating to the Designated Securities, no downgrading shall have occurred in the rating accorded to the Company's senior debt securities by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or Standard & Poor's, a division of the McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.

(g) Subsequent to the execution and delivery of the Pricing Agreement relating to the Designated Securities, there shall not have occurred any of the following: (i) trading in the Company's Common Stock shall have been suspended by the Commission or the New York Stock Exchange or trading in securities generally on the New York Stock Exchange shall have been suspended or limited or minimum prices shall have been established on such Exchange, (ii) a banking moratorium shall have been declared either by Federal or New York State authorities, or (iii) there shall have occurred any

outbreak or material escalation of hostilities or other calamity or crisis if the effect of any such event described in this clause (iii) on the financial markets of the United States, in the reasonable judgment of the Representatives, makes it impracticable or inadvisable to proceed with the public offering or the delivery of the Designated Securities on the terms and in the manner contemplated in the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus.

(h) The Company shall have furnished or caused to be furnished to the Representatives at the Time of Delivery for the Designated Securities certificates of officers of the Company satisfactory to the Representatives as to the accuracy of the representations and warranties of the Company herein at and as of such Time of Delivery, as to the performance by the Company of all of its obligations hereunder to be performed at or prior to such Time of Delivery, and as to such other matters as the Representatives may reasonably request.

(i) If the Designated Securities include Currency Warrants or Stock-Index Warrants, such warrants shall have been duly listed, subject to notice of issuance, on a "national securities exchange" as such term is defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

5. Indemnification and Contribution. (a) The Company will indemnify and hold harmless each Underwriter against any losses, claims, damages or liabilities, joint or several, to which such Underwriter may become subject, under the Act or otherwise, insofar as such losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) arise out of or are based upon an untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Registration Statement, Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto, or any related preliminary prospectus supplement (or contained in any Registration Statement after it first becomes effective but prior to the Pricing Agreement or in any prospectus forming a part thereof during such period), or arise out of or are based upon the omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, and will reimburse each Underwriter for any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such Underwriter in connection with investigating or defending any such action or claim; *provided, however*, that the Company shall not be liable in any such case to the extent that any such loss, claim, damage or liability arises out of or is based upon an untrue statement or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission made in any of such documents in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by any Underwriter, directly or through the Representatives, expressly for use therein.

(b) Each Underwriter severally and not jointly will indemnify and hold harmless the Company against any losses, claims, damages or liabilities to which the Company may become subject, under the Act or otherwise, insofar as such losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) arise out of or are based upon an untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Registration Statement, Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto, or any related preliminary prospectus supplement, or arise out of or are based upon the omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statement or omission or alleged omission was made in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by such Underwriter, directly or through the Representatives, expressly for use therein; and will reimburse the Company for any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by the Company in connection with investigating or defending any such action or claim.

(c) Promptly after receipt by an indemnified party under subsection (a) or (b) above of notice of any claim or of the commencement of any action, such indemnified party shall, if a claim in respect thereof is to be made against the indemnifying party under such subsection, notify the indemnifying party in writing thereof. The omission so to notify the indemnifying party shall not relieve it from any liability which it may have to any indemnified party, *provided* that, in the case of any such omission relating to the commencement of an action, such omission shall relieve the

indemnifying party of liability under such subsection. In case any such action shall be brought against any indemnified party and it shall notify the indemnifying party of the commencement thereof, the indemnifying party shall be entitled to participate therein and, to the extent that it may elect by written notice delivered to the indemnified party promptly after receiving the aforesaid notice from such indemnified party, to assume the defense thereof, with counsel satisfactory to such indemnified party; provided, however, that if the defendants in any such action include both the indemnified party and the indemnifying party and the indemnified party shall have reasonably concluded that there may be legal defenses available to it or other indemnified parties, or both, which are different from or additional to those available to the indemnifying party, the indemnified party or parties shall have the right to select separate counsel to assert such legal defenses and to otherwise participate in the defense of such action on behalf of such indemnified party or parties. Upon receipt of notice from the indemnifying party to such indemnified party or its election so to assume the defense of such action and approval by the indemnified party of counsel, the indemnifying party will not be liable to such indemnified party under such subsection for any legal or other expenses subsequently incurred by such indemnified party in connection with the defense thereof (other than reasonable costs of investigation conducted at the request of such indemnifying party) unless (i) the indemnified party shall have employed separate counsel in connection with the assertion of legal defenses in accordance with the proviso to the next preceding sentence (it being understood, however, that the indemnifying party shall not be liable for the expenses of more than one separate counsel, approved by such indemnifying party, representing the indemnified parties under such subsection who are parties to such action), (ii) the indemnifying party shall not have employed counsel satisfactory to the indemnified party to represent the indemnified party within a reasonable time after notice of commencement of the action or (iii) the indemnifying party has authorized the employment of counsel for the indemnified party at the expense of the indemnifying party; and except that, if clause (i) or (iii) is applicable, such liability shall be only in respect of the counsel referred to in such clause (i) or (iii).

(d) If the indemnification provided for in this Section 5 shall be unavailable to hold harmless an indemnified party under subsection (a) or (b) above in respect of any losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) referred to therein, then each indemnifying party shall contribute to the amount paid or payable by such indemnified party as a result of such losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand and the Underwriters on the other from the offering of the Designated Securities and also the relative fault of the Company on the one hand and the Underwriters on the other in connection with the statements or omissions which resulted in such losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof), as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand and the Underwriters on the other in connection with the offering of the Designated Securities shall be deemed to be in the same proportion as the total net proceeds from the offering of such Securities (before deducting expenses) received by the Company bears to the total underwriting discounts and commissions received by the Underwriters in respect thereof, in each case as set forth on the cover page of the Prospectus. The relative fault shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether the indemnified party failed to give the notice required under subsection (c) above, including the consequences of such failure, and whether the untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or the omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the Company on the one hand or the Underwriters on the other and the relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission, of the Company on the one hand and the Underwriters, directly or through the Representatives, on the other hand.

The Company and the Underwriters agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this subsection (d) were determined by per-capita allocation (even if the Underwriters were treated as one entity for such purpose) or by any other method of allocation which does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to above in this subsection (d). The amount paid or payable by an indemnified party as a result of the losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) referred to above in this

subsection (d) shall be deemed to include any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such indemnified party in connection with investigating or defending any such action or claim. Notwithstanding the provisions of this subsection (d), no Underwriter shall be required to contribute any amount in excess of the amount by which the total price at which the applicable Designated Securities underwritten by it and distributed to the public were offered to the public exceeds the amount of any damages which such Underwriter has otherwise been required to pay by reason of such untrue or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission. No person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Act) shall be entitled to contribute are several in proportion to their respective underwriting obligations and not joint.

(e) The obligations of the Company under this Section 5 shall be in addition to any liability which the Company may otherwise have and shall extend, upon the same terms and conditions, to each person, if any, who controls any Underwriter within the meaning of the Act, and the obligations of the Underwriters under this Section 5 shall be in addition to any liability which the respective Underwriters may otherwise have and shall extend, upon the same terms and conditions, to each director of the Company, to each officer of the Company who signs the Registration Statement and to each person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of the Act.

6. Default of Underwriters. (a) If any Underwriter shall default in its obligation to purchase the Designated Securities which it has agreed to purchase under the Pricing Agreement relating to such Designated Securities, the Representatives may in their discretion arrange for themselves or another party or other parties to purchase such Designated Securities on the terms contained herein. If within thirty-six hours after such default by any Underwriter the Representatives do not arrange for the purchase of such Designated Securities, then the Company shall be entitled to a further period of thirty-six hours within which to procure another party or other parties satisfactory to the Representatives to purchase such Designated Securities on such terms. In the event that, within the respective prescribed periods, the Representatives notify the Company that they have so arranged for the purchase of such Designated Securities, or the Company notifies the Representatives that it has so arranged for the purchase of such Designated Securities, in order to effect whatever changes may thereby be made necessary in the Registration Statements, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or the Prospectus, or in any other documents or arrangements, and the Company agrees to file promptly any amendments or supplements to the Registration Statements or the Prospectus which in the opinion of the Representatives may thereby be made necessary. The term "Underwriter" as used in the Agreement shall include any person substituted under this Section with like effect as if such person had originally been a party to the Pricing Agreement shall include any person substituted under this Section with like effect as if such person had originally been a party to the Pricing Agreement with respect to such Designated Securities.

(b) If, after giving effect to any arrangements for the purchase of the Designated Securities of a defaulting Underwriter or Underwriters by the Representatives or the Company, or both, as provided in subsection (a) above, the aggregate principal amount of such Designated Securities which remains unpurchased does not exceed one-eleventh of the aggregate principal amount of the Designated Securities, then the Company shall have the right to require each non-defaulting Underwriter to purchase the principal amount of Designated Securities which such Underwriter agreed to purchase under the Pricing Agreement relating to such Designated Securities and, in addition, to require each non-defaulting Underwriter to purchase its pro rata share (based on the principal amount of Designated Securities which such Underwriter agreed to purchase under such Pricing Agreement) of the Designated Securities of such defaulting Underwriter or Underwriters for which such arrangements have not been made; but nothing herein shall relieve a defaulting Underwriter from liability for its default. As used in this subsection (b) and in subsection (c) below of this Section 6, the "aggregate principal amount" of Designated Securities shall mean the aggregate principal amount of the Designated Securities that are Debt Securities

plus the public offering price, if any, of any Debt Warrants, Currency Warrants or Stock-Index Warrants included in the Designated Securities.

(c) If, after giving effect to any arrangements for the purchase of the Designated Securities of a defaulting Underwriter or Underwriters by the Representatives or the Company, or both, as provided in subsection (a) above, the aggregate principal amount of Designated Securities which remains unpurchased exceeds one-eleventh of the aggregate principal amount of the Designated Securities, or if the Company shall not exercise the right described in subsection (b) above to require non-defaulting Underwriters to purchase Designated Securities of a defaulting Underwriter or Underwriters, then the Pricing Agreement relating to such Designated Securities shall thereupon terminate, without liability on the part of any non-defaulting Underwriter or the Company, except for the expenses to be borne by the Company and the Underwriters provided in Section 3(h) hereof and the indemnity and contribution agreements in Section 5 hereof; but nothing herein shall relieve a defaulting Underwriter from liability for its default.

7. Survival of Indemnities, Representations, Etc. The respective indemnities, agreements, representations, warranties and other statements of the Company and the several Underwriters, as set forth in this Agreement or made by or on behalf of them, respectively, pursuant to this Agreement, shall remain in full force and effect, regardless of any investigation (or any statement as to the results thereof) made by or on behalf of any Underwriter or any controlling person of any Underwriter, or the Company, or any officer or director or controlling person of the Company, and shall survive delivery of and payment for the Securities.

8. Reimbursement of Underwriters' Expenses. If any Pricing Agreement shall be terminated pursuant to Section 6 hereof or if the Designated Securities are not delivered by or on behalf of the Company because of any of the events referred to in Section 4(g), then the Company shall not then be under any liability to any Underwriter with respect to Designated Securities covered by such Pricing Agreement except as provided in Section 3(h) and Section 5 hereof; but, if for any other reason Designated Securities are not delivered by or on behalf of the Company as provided herein, the Company will reimburse the Underwriters through the Representatives for all out-of-pocket expenses approved in writing by the Representatives, including fees and disbursements of counsel, reasonably incurred by the Underwriters in making preparations for the purchase, sale and delivery of such Designated Securities, but the Company shall then be under no further liability to any Underwriter with respect to such Designated Securities except as provided in Section 3(h) and Section 5 hereof.

9. Representatives; Notices. In all dealings hereunder, the Representatives of the Underwriters of Designated Securities shall act on behalf of each of such Underwriters, and the parties hereto shall be entitled to act and rely upon any statement, request, notice, waiver or agreement on behalf of any Underwriter made or given by such Representatives.

All statements, requests, notices and agreements hereunder shall be in writing and if to the Underwriters shall be sufficient in all respects, if delivered or sent by registered mail to the address of the Representatives as set forth in the Pricing Agreement; and if to the Company shall be sufficient in all respects if delivered or sent by registered mail to the address of the Company set forth in the Registration Statements: Attention: Secretary; *provided, however*, that any notice to any Underwriter pursuant to Section 5(c) hereof shall be delivered or sent by registered mail to such Underwriter at its address set forth in the applicable Pricing Agreement or, if not so set forth, in its Underwriters' Questionnaire delivered to the Company.

10. *Binding Effect; Successors.* This Agreement and each Pricing Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure solely to the benefit of, the Underwriters, the Company and, to the extent provided in Section 5 and Section 7 hereof, the officers and directors of the Company and each person who controls the Company or any Underwriter, and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns, and no other person shall acquire or have any right under or by virtue of this Agreement or any such Pricing Agreement. No purchaser of any of the Securities from any Underwriter shall be deemed a successor or assign by reason merely of such purchase.

11. No Fiduciary Duty. The Company hereby acknowledges that (a) the purchase and sale of the Securities pursuant to this Agreement is an arm's-length commercial transaction between the Company, on the one hand, and the Underwriters and any affiliate through which it may be acting, on the other hand, (b) the Underwriters are acting as principal and not as an agent or fiduciary of the Company and (c) the Company's engagement of the Underwriters in connection with the offering and the process leading up to the offering is as independent contractors and not in any other capacity. Furthermore, the Company agrees that it is solely responsible for making its own judgments in connection with the offering (irrespective of whether any of the Underwriters has advised or is currently advising the Company on related or other matters, and the Underwriters shall have no responsibility or liability to the Company with respect to the offering contemplated hereby except the obligations expressly set forth in this Agreement or any related Pricing Agreement). The Company agrees that it will not claim that the Underwriters have rendered advisory services of any nature or respect, or owe an agency, fiduciary or similar duty to the Company, in connection with such transaction or the process leading thereto.

# 12. Applicable Law. This Agreement and each Pricing Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.

13. Counterparts. This Agreement and each Pricing Agreement may be executed by any one or more of the parties hereto and thereto in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all such respective counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument.

If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding, please sign and return to us ten counterparts hereof.

Very truly yours,

United Technologies Corporation

By:

Name: Title: Accepted as of the date first above written:

[REPRESENTATIVE]

By:

Name: Title:

On behalf of each of the Underwriters

Accepted as of the date first above written:

[REPRESENTATIVE]

By:

Name: Title:

On behalf of each of the Underwriters

Accepted as of the date first above written:

[REPRESENTATIVE]

By:

Name: Title:

On behalf of each of the Underwriters

### Matters to be Covered by Letter of Independent Accountants to the Company and the Underwriters

The letter will state that they have audited the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedules of the Company and its subsidiaries included or incorporated by reference in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the latest fiscal year and have issued their opinions thereon for the periods specified in such opinions, which have also been included or incorporated by reference in such Annual Report, and have made a review of the interim financial information of the Company and its subsidiaries for the periods specified in such letter in accordance with standards established by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, as indicated in their report or reports to the Board of Directors of the Company specified in such letter. This letter shall further state:

(i) They are independent accountants with respect to the Company and its subsidiaries within the meaning of the Act and the applicable rules and regulations thereunder adopted by the Commission and the PCAOB;

(ii) In their opinion, the consolidated financial statements and schedules audited by them and included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statements, the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus comply as to form in all material respects with the applicable accounting requirements of the Act or the Exchange Act, as applicable, and the published rules and regulations thereunder with respect to registration statements on Form S-3;

(iii) With respect to any pro forma data included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statements, Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, they have read such data, have compared the historical amounts presented in connection therewith with corresponding amounts appearing in the consolidated audited financial statements included or incorporated by reference in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the most recent fiscal year and found them to be in agreement and have recalculated the mathematical accuracy of such pro forma data and, in the event they have been engaged by the Company to make and have made a review or examination of such pro forma data in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, they will refer to such review or examination in their letter;

(iv) On the basis of limited procedures (but not an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards), performed through a specified date not more than five days prior to the date of delivery of such letter, consisting of a reading of the latest available unaudited consolidated interim financial information of the Company and its subsidiaries, a reading of the minutes of the meetings of the shareowners and the Board or Directors (and the Executive Committee and the Audit Committee thereof) of the Company since the date of the latest audited financial statements included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statements, the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, inquiries of officials of the Company and its subsidiaries responsible for financial and accounting matters regarding the specific items as to which statements are requested below and such other inquiries and procedures as may be specified in such letter, nothing came to their attention that caused them to believe that:

A-1

(A) the unaudited information with respect to the consolidated results of operations and financial position for the five years ended the most recent fiscal year end included in the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, and included or incorporated by reference in Item 6 in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption "Selected Financial Data", does not agree with the corresponding amounts (if they appear therein and after restatement where applicable) in the audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended included in the Company's Annual Reports on Form 10-K for such fiscal years, or with information derived from accounting records of the Company, as the case may be;

(B) the unaudited condensed consolidated income statements, condensed consolidated balance sheets and condensed consolidated statements of cash flows included in the Company's Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q incorporated by reference in the Registration Statements or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus do not comply as to form in all material respects with the applicable accounting requirements of the Exchange Act as it applies to Form 10-Q and the published rules and regulations thereunder or are not stated on a basis substantially consistent with that of the audited consolidated statements of income, consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of cash flows included or incorporated by reference in the Company's most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K;

(C) any other unaudited financial data included or incorporated by reference in the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus do not agree with the corresponding items in the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements from which such data and items were derived [If the capsule information meets the minimum disclosure requirements of APB Opinion No. 28, paragraph 30, insert—"or are not stated on a basis substantially consistent with that of the audited financial statements incorporated by reference in the Registration Statements"], or that any such unaudited data and items, and the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements from which such data were derived, were not determined on a basis substantially consistent with the basis for the corresponding amounts in the audited consolidated financial statements included or incorporated by reference in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the most recent fiscal year;

(D) the unaudited financial statements which were not included in the Prospectus but from which were derived the unaudited condensed financial statements referred to in Clause (B) and any unaudited income statement data and balance sheet items included in the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus and referred to in Clause (C) were not determined on a basis substantially consistent with the basis for the audited financial statements included or incorporated by reference in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the most recent fiscal year;

(E) based on the procedures described in clause (iii), the pro forma data included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statements, Prospectus, or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus have not been properly compiled on the pro forma bases described therein;

(F) at the date of the latest available interim consolidated financial information and as of a specified date not more than five days prior to the date of delivery of such letter, there have been any changes in consolidated capital stock or any increase in consolidated long-term debt or any decreases in consolidated

A-2

working capital or shareowners' equity of the Company and its subsidiaries in each case as compared with amounts shown in the most recent balance sheet included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, except in each case for changes, decreases or increases which the Registration Statements, the Prospectus or such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus discloses have occurred or may occur or which are described in such letter, in which case the Company shall deliver an explanation as to the significance thereof unless said explanation is not deemed necessary by the Representatives; and

(G) for the period from the date of the latest financial statements included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus to such specified date there were any decreases in the Company's consolidated sales, income from continuing operations before income taxes, income from continuing operations, net income or the fully diluted per share amounts of consolidated income from continuing operations or net income, in each case as compared with the comparable period of the preceding year and with the period of corresponding length beginning on the first date of the next preceding full fiscal quarter, except in each case for decreases which the Registration Statements, the Prospectus or such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus discloses have occurred or may occur or which are described in such letter, in which case the Company shall deliver an explanation as to the significance thereof unless said explanation is not deemed necessary by the Representatives; and

(v) In addition to the audit referred to in their report included in the Registration Statements and the Prospectus or a Issuer Free Writing Prospectus and the limited procedures, inspection of minute books, inquiries and other procedures referred to in subparagraph (iv) above, they have carried out certain specified procedures, not constituting an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, with respect to certain amounts, percentages and financial information, specified by the Representatives, which are derived from the general accounting records of the Company and its subsidiaries which are subject to the system of internal controls, which appear in the Prospectus or a Issuer Free Writing Prospectus (in each case excluding documents incorporated by reference), or in Part II of, or in exhibits and schedules to, the Registration Statements specified by the Representatives, and have compared certain of such amounts, percentages and financial information grecords of the Company and its subsidiaries which are subject to the system of index incorporated by reference), or in Part II of, or in exhibits and schedules to, the Registration Statements specified by the Representatives, and have compared certain of such amounts, percentages and financial information with the accounting records of the Company and its subsidiaries which are subject to the system of internal controls and have found them to be in agreement.

Note: References in this Exhibit A to "Issuer Free Writing Prospectus" shall not include any "electronic road show" as defined in Rule 433(h).

A-3

[Date]

To the [Underwriter[s] named in Schedule I] [Representative[s] named in Schedule II of the Underwriters named in Schedule I]

## Ladies and Gentlemen:

United Technologies Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), proposes subject to the terms and conditions stated herein and in the Underwriting Agreement, dated [date] (the "Underwriting Agreement"), between the Company, on the one hand, and [\_\_\_\_\_], on the other hand, to issue and sell to the Underwriters named in Schedule I hereto (the "Underwriters") the Securities specified in Schedule II hereto (the "Designated Securities"). Each of the provisions of the Underwriting Agreement is incorporated herein by reference in its entirety, and shall be deemed to be a part of this Agreement to the same extent as if such provision had been set forth in full herein; and each of the representations and warranties set forth therein shall be deemed to have been made at and as of the date of this Pricing Agreement. Each reference to the Representatives herein and in the provisions of the Underwriting Agreement so incorporated by reference shall be deemed to refer to you. Unless otherwise defined herein, terms defined in the Underwriting Agreement are used herein as therein defined.

The Company has delivered to you for each of the Underwriters copies of the Registration Statements, Prospectus and Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses, if any, including the documents incorporated therein by reference. The Prospectus (including the Supplement relating to the Designated Securities) in the form heretofore delivered to you is now proposed to be filed with the Commission.

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Underwriting Agreement, the Company agrees to issue and sell to each of the Underwriters, and each of the Underwriters agrees, severally and not jointly, to purchase from the Company, at the time and place and at the purchase price to the Underwriters set forth in Schedule II hereto, the amount or principal amount, as applicable, of Designated Securities set forth opposite the name of such Underwriter in Schedule I hereto.

[The Company authorizes the Underwriters to solicit offers to purchase Designated Securities from the Company pursuant to Delayed Delivery Contracts substantially in the form of Schedule III hereto but with such changes therein as the Company may approve. The Underwriters will endeavor to make such arrangements and, as compensation therefor, the Company will pay to the Representatives, for the account of the Underwriters, at the Time of Delivery a commission in the amount set forth in Schedule II. Delayed Delivery Contracts are to be with purchasers of the types approved by the Company and set forth in the Prospectus and subject to other conditions set forth in such Delayed Delivery Contracts. Except as the Company may otherwise agree, each Delayed Delivery Contract must be for the minimum principal amount set forth in Schedule II hereto and the aggregate principal amount of all Delayed Delivery Contracts may not exceed the amount set forth in such Schedule II. The Underwriters will not have any responsibility in respect of the validity or performance of any Delayed Delivery Contracts.]

[If the Company executes and delivers Delayed Delivery Contracts, the Securities subject to such contracts shall be deducted from the Designated Securities to be purchased by the several

Underwriters and the aggregate principal amount of Designated Securities to be purchased by each Underwriter shall be reduced pro rata in proportion to the principal amount of Designated Securities set forth opposite each Underwriter's name in Schedule I hereto, except to the extent that the Representatives determine that such reduction shall be otherwise and so advise the Company in writing; *provided*, *however*, that the total principal amount of Designated Securities to be purchased by all Underwriters shall be the total principal amount of Designated Securities set forth in Schedule I hereto less the principal amount of Designated Securities covered by Delayed Delivery Contracts. As used in this paragraph and in the immediately preceding paragraph, the "aggregate principal amount" or "total amount" of Designated Securities shall mean the aggregate principal amount of the Designated Securities that are Debt Securities plus the public offering price, if any, of any Debt Warrants, Currency Warrants or Stock-Index Warrants included in the Designated Securities.]

If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding, please sign and return to us [ ] counterparts hereof, and upon acceptance hereof by you, on behalf of each of the Underwriters, this letter and such acceptance hereof, including the provisions of the Underwriting Agreement incorporated herein by reference, shall constitute a binding agreement between each of the Underwriters and the Company. It is understood that your acceptance of this letter on behalf of each of the Underwriters is or will be pursuant to authority granted to you by such Underwriter.

Very truly yours,

UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION

By:

Title:

Accepted as of the date hereof:

[Insert signature block[s] for the Representative[s], acting on behalf of the Underwriters, or for each Underwriter if no syndicate.]

		[Number of Designated
	Principal Amount	Securities that are
	of Designated	Debt Warrants,
	Securities [that	Currency Warrants
	are Debt	or Stock-Index
	Securities] to be	Warrants
Underwriters	Purchased	to be Purchased]
[Names of Underwriters]	[\$]	

SCHEDULE I

Total

I-4

[\$]

### SCHEDULE II [Debt Securities] [Warrant Securities]

Title of Designated Securities:

[..]% [Floating Rate] [Zero Coupon] [Notes] [Debentures] due .....

Aggregate Principal Amount:

[\$].....

Price to Public:

..% of the principal amount of the Designated Securities, plus accrued interest from ..... to the Time of Delivery [and accrued amortization, if any, from ..... to the Time of Delivery]

Purchase Price by Underwriters:

..% of the principal amount of the Designated Securities, plus accrued interest from ..... to the Time of Delivery [and accrued amortization, if any, from ..... to the Time of Delivery]

Indenture:

Amended and Restated Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2001, between the Company and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., Trustee, as modified by the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended

Time of Sale:

Time of Delivery:

Maturity:

.....

Interest Rate:

[..]% [Zero Coupon] [See Floating Rate Provisions] [See Event Risk Provisions]

Interest Payment Dates:

[months and dates], commencing . . . . , 20. .

**Redemption Provisions:** 

[No provisions for redemption]

[The Designated Securities may be redeemed [otherwise than through the sinking fund,] in whole or in part at the option of the Company, in the amount of [\$]....or an integral multiple thereof, ]

Year

**Redemption Price** 

..... and thereafter at 100% of their principal amount, together in each case with accrued interest to the redemption date.]

[on any interest payment date falling on or after ....., at the election of the Company, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.]

[Other possible redemption provisions, such as mandatory redemption upon occurrence of certain events or redemption for changes in tax law.]

Sinking Fund Provisions:

[No sinking fund provisions]

[The Designated Securities are entitled to the benefit of a sinking fund to retire [\$]..... principal amount of Designated Securities on ...... in each of the years ...... through ...... at 100% for their principal amount plus accrued interest] [, together with [cumulative] [noncumulative] redemptions at the option of the Company to retire an additional [\$]..... principal amount of Designated Securities in the years ...... through

..... at 100% of their principal amount plus accrued interest.]

[If Securities are extendable debt Securities, insert-

**Conversion Provisions:** 

[No conversion provisions]

[Each \$1,000 principal amount of the Designated Securities shall be convertible into \_\_\_\_\_\_ shares of Stock as provided therein.]

#### Extendable Provisions

[If Securities are Floating Rate debt Securities, insert—

#### Floating Rate Provisions:

.......... and thereafter the rate will be the then current interest yield equivalent plus .....% of Interest Differential].] Issuable in temporary global form: [Yes] [No] Issuable in permanent global form: [Yes] [No] **Debt Warrants** Number of Debt Warrants to be issued: Warrant Agreement: Form of Debt Warrants: [Registered] [Bearer] Issuable jointly with other Securities: [Yes] [No] [Number of Debt Warranties issued with each...... amount or \$...... principal amount of other Securities] [Detachable Date:] Date from which Debt Warrants are exercisable: Date on which Debt Warrants expire: Exercise price(s) of Debt Warrants: Public offering price: \$..... Purchase price: \$. . . . . . Title and terms of Warrant Securities: As described above Principal Amount of Warrant Securities purchasable upon exercise of one Warrant: **Currency Warrants** Title of Currency Warrants: [ Currency [Call] [Put] Warrants ] Number of Currency Warrants to be issued: Base Currency: Warrant Agreement: Warrant Agent: Form of Currency Warrants: [Registered] [Bearer] [Book-entry form, represented by single global Currency Warrant Certificate]

Issuable jointly with other Securities: [Yes] [No]

[Number of Currency Warrants issued with each amount of \$...... principal amount of other Securities] [Detachable Date:] Date from which Currency Warrants are exercisable: Date on which Currency Warrants expire: Strike Price of Currency Warrants: Formula for Determining Cash Settlement Value: Automatic Exercise: Minimum Number of Currency Warrants which can be Exercised: Listing: Public offering price: \$. . . . . . Purchase price: \$. . . . . . **Stock-Index Warrants** Title of Stock-Index Warrants: [ Stock-Index [Call] [Put] Warrants 1 Number of Stock-Index Warrants to be issued: Stock Index: Warrant Agreement: Warrant Agent: Form of Stock-Index Warrants: [Registered] [Bearer] [Book-entry form, represented by single global Stock-Index Warrant Certificate] Issuable jointly with other Securities: [Yes] [No] [Number of Stock-Index Warrants issued with each amount or \$...... principal amount of other Securities] [Detachable Date:] Date from which Stock-Index Warrants are exercisable: Date on which Stock-Index Warrants expire: Exercise Price of Stock-Index Warrants: Formula for Determining Stock-Index Cash Settlement Value: Automatic Exercise:

Minimum/Maximum number of Stock-Index Warrants which can be Exercised:

Listing:

Public offering price: \$.....

Purchase price: \$. . . . . .

Time of Delivery:

**Closing Location:** 

Funds in which Underwriters to make payment:

Delayed Delivery:

[None]

[Underwriters' commission shall be  $\ldots$  .% of the principal amount of Designated Securities for which Delayed Delivery Contracts have been entered into and the check given in payment of such commission shall be drawn to the order of  $\ldots$  .....]

[Maximum aggregate principal amount of Designated Securities to be offered and sold pursuant to Delayed Delivery Contracts: [\$] ......] [Minimum principal amount of each Delayed Delivery Contract: [\$] .....]

Names and addresses of Representatives:

Designated Representatives:

Address for Notices, etc.:

[Additional Comfort Procedures: Identify any items being specified by Representatives for comfort as contemplated by paragraph (v) of Exhibit A to the Underwriting Agreement.]

[Other Terms, including application of defeasance and/or covenant defeasance]12

- A description of particular tax, accounting or other unusual features of the Securities should be set forth, or referenced to an *attached* and *accompanying* description, if necessary to the parties' understanding of the transaction contemplated. Such a description might appropriately be in the form in which such features will be described in the Prospectus, as supplemented, for the offering.
- <sup>2</sup> Any additional terms and conditions appropriate to an offering of Securities denominated or payable in or indexed to a currency, currencies, currency unit or composite currency other than United States dollars should also be set forth.

# SCHEDULE III

# **Delayed Delivery Contract**

# United Technologies Corporation c/o: [Date]

## Attention:

# Dear Sirs:

The undersigned hereby agrees to purchase from United Technologies Corporation (hereinafter called the "Company"), and the Company agrees to sell to the undersigned **[[\$]** principal amount] [number] of the Company's [Title of Designated Securities] (hereinafter called the "Designated Securities"), offered by the Company's Prospectus dated , 20 [as amended or supplemented], receipt of a copy of which is hereby acknowledged, at a purchase price of [ % of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest from the date from which interest accrues as set forth below] [ per Debt Warrant, Currency Warrant or Stock-Index Warrant], and on the further terms and conditions set forth in this contract.

[The undersigned will purchase the Designated Securities from the Company on , 20 (the "Delivery Date") [and interest on the Designated Securities so purchased will accrue from , 20 .]]

[The undersigned will purchase the Designated Securities from the Company on the delivery date or dates and in the principal amount or amounts set forth below:

		Principal	Date from Which	Number of Debt Warrants, Currency Warrants or Stock-Index
	Delivery Date	Amount	Interest Accrues	Warrants
, 20		[\$ ]	, 20	
, 20		[\$ ]	, 20	

Each such date on which Designated Securities are to be purchased hereunder is hereinafter referred to as a "Delivery Date".]

Payment for the Designated Securities which the undersigned has agreed to purchase on [the] [each] Delivery Date shall be made to the Company or its order by certified or official bank check in funds at the office of , , , or by wire transfer to a bank account specified by the Company, on [the][such] Delivery Date upon delivery to the undersigned of the Designated Securities then to be purchased by the undersigned in definitive [bearer] [fully registered] form and in such denominations and [registered in such names] as the undersigned may designate by written or telegraphic communication addressed to the Company not less than five business days prior to [the] [such] Delivery Date.

The obligation of the undersigned to take delivery of and make payment for Designated Securities on [the] [each] Delivery Date shall be subject to the conditions that (a) the purchase of Designated Securities to be made by the undersigned shall not on [the] [such] Delivery Date be prohibited under the laws of the jurisdiction to which the undersigned is subject and (b) the Company, on or before , 20 , shall have sold to the several Underwriters, pursuant to the Pricing

Agreement dated , 20 with the Company, an [aggregate principal amount and/or number] of Designated Securities equal to , minus the aggregate principal amount and/or a number] of Designated Securities to be covered by this contract and other contracts similar to this contract. The obligation of the undersigned to take delivery of and make payment for Designated Securities pursuant to other contracts similar to this contract. The obligation of the undersigned to take delivery of and make payment for Designated Securities pursuant to other contracts similar to this contract.

Promptly after completion of the sale of the Underwriters, the Company will mail or deliver to the undersigned at its address set forth below notice to such effect, accompanied by a copy of the Opinion or Opinions of Counsel for the Company delivered to the Underwriters in connection therewith.

The undersigned represents and warrants that, as of the date of this contract, the undersigned is not prohibited from purchasing the Designated Securities hereby agreed to be purchased by it under the laws of the jurisdiction to which the undersigned is subject.

This contract will inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective successors, but will not be assignable by either party hereto without the written consent of the other.

This contract may be executed by either of the parties hereto in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument.

It is understood that the acceptance by the Company of any Delayed Delivery Contract (including this contract) is in the Company's sole discretion and that, without limiting the foregoing, acceptances of such contracts need not be on a first-come, first-serve basis. If this contract is acceptable to the Company, it is requested that the Company sign the form of acceptance below and mail or deliver one of the counterparts hereof to the undersigned at its address set forth below. This will become a binding contract between the Company and the undersigned when such counterpart is so mailed or delivered by the Company.

Yours very truly

By:

(Name and Title)

(Address)

Accepted, , 20

UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION

By: [Title]

I-12

## SCHEDULE IV

Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses

I-13

# SCHEDULE V

Information Provided by Underwriters Pursuant to Section 1(c) of the Underwriting Agreement

#### EXHIBIT A

# Form of Fixed Rate Pricing Term Sheet

loouori	
Issuer:	United Technologies Corporation
Size:	\$
Title:	% Notes due 20
Maturity:	, 20
Coupon:	%
Price to Public:	% of face amount
Yield to maturity:	%
[Spread to Benchmark Treasury:	%]
[Benchmark Treasury:]	
[Benchmark Treasury Spot and Yield:	%]
Proceeds (Before Expenses) to Issuer	\$ ( %)
Interest Payment Dates:	and, commencing, 20
Redemption Provisions:	
First call date and price:	Any time at the greater of 100% and the treasury rate plus basis points.
Trade Date:	, 20
Settlement Date:	, 20 (T+3)
CUSIP:	
Denominations	\$1,000 × \$1,000
[Ratings:	]
Underwriters:	

The issuer has filed a registration statement (including a prospectus) with the SEC for the offering to which this communication relates. Before you invest, you should read the prospectus in that registration statement and other documents the issuer has filed with the SEC for more complete information about the issuer and this offering. You may get these documents for free by visiting EDGAR on the SEC Web site at www.sec.gov. Alternatively, the issuer, any underwriter or any dealer participating in the offering will arrange to send you the prospectus if you request it by calling [\_\_\_\_\_] collect at [\_\_\_\_]. [\_\_\_\_]'s toll-free number is [\_\_\_\_\_].

I-15

Form of 3-Month LIBOR Floating Rate Pricing Term Sheet		
Issuer:	United Technologies Corporation	
Size:	\$	
Title:	Floating Rate Notes due 20	
Maturity:	, 20	
Coupon:	3 Month LIBOR Telerate plus%	
Price to Public:	% of face amount	
Proceeds (Before Expenses) to Issuer	\$ ( %)	
Interest Payment and Reset Dates:	,,, and, commencing, 20	
Day Count Convention	Actual/360	
Redemption Provisions:		
First call date and price:	[, 200_] at 100% plus interest accrued to the date of redemption]	
Trade Date:	, 20	
Settlement Date:	, 20 (T+3)	
Denominations	\$1,000 × \$1,000	
CUSIP:		
[Ratings:	]	
Underwriters:		
-	(including a prospectus) with the SEC for the offering to which this communication relates	

Before you invest, you should read the prospectus in that registration statement and other documents the issuer has filed with the SEC for more complete information about the issuer and this offering. You may get these documents for free by visiting EDGAR on the SEC Web site at www.sec.gov. Alternatively, the issuer, any underwriter or any dealer participating in the offering will arrange to send you the prospectus if you request it by calling [\_\_\_\_] collect at [\_\_\_\_]. [\_\_\_\_]'s toll-free number is [\_\_\_\_].

|--|

July 24, 2007

United Technologies Corporation One Financial Plaza Hartford, Connecticut 06103

#### Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as special counsel to United Technologies Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the "**Company**"), in connection with the preparation and filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "**Commission**") under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "**Securities Act**"), of the Company's registration statement on Form S-3 (the "**Registration Statement**") relating to the offering from time to time, together or separately and in one or more series (if applicable), of (i) unsubordinated debt securities (which may be convertible into shares of the Company's common stock, par value \$1.00 per share (the "**Common Stock**")) (the "**Debt Securities**"), (ii) warrants to purchase Debt Securities (the "**Debt Warrants**"), (iii) warrants, the value of which is related to the value of various currencies (the "**Currency Warrants**"), (iv) warrants, the value of which is related to the value of various currencies (the "**Currency Warrants**"), (iv) warrants, the value of which is related to herein collectively as the "**Warrant Securities**," and the Debt Securities, the Warrant Securities and the Common Stock are referred to herein collectively as the "**Offered Securities**." The Offered Securities being registered under the Registration Statement will be offered on a continuous or delayed basis pursuant to the provisions of Rule 415 under the Securities Act.

The Debt Securities are to be issued under an amended and restated indenture dated as of May 1, 2001 (the "Indenture") between the Company and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the "Trustee"). The Debt Warrants are to be issued from time to time under one or more debt warrant agreements (each a "Debt Warrant Agreement"), the Currency Warrants are to be issued from time to time under one or more currency warrant agreements (each a "Currency Warrant Agreement") and the Stock-Index Warrants are to be issued from time to time under one or more stock-index warrant agreements (each a "Stock-Index Warrant Agreement" and, together with the Debt Warrant Agreements and the Currency Warrant Agreements, the "Warrant Agreements"), each to be entered into by the Company and one or more institutions, as warrant agents (each a "Warrant Agent"), each as identified in the applicable Warrant Agreement.

We have reviewed the originals or copies certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction of all such corporate records of the Company and such other instruments and other certificates of public officials, officers and representatives of the Company and such other persons, and we have made such investigations of law, as we have deemed appropriate as a basis for the opinions expressed below. In rendering the opinions expressed below, we have assumed the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as originals and the conformity to the originals of all documents submitted to us as copies. In addition, we have assumed and have not verified the accuracy as to factual matters of each document we have reviewed.

#### United Technologies Corporation, p.2

With regard to the Indenture, we draw your attention to the fact that the Trust Indenture Reform Act of 1990 (the "**Trust Indenture Reform Act**") became law on November 15, 1990. The Trust Indenture Reform Act provides, among other things, that outstanding indentures such as the Indenture shall be deemed to be amended and certain provisions thereof superseded. Our opinions are given on the basis that the Indenture has been so amended and certain of its provisions so superseded, as contemplated by the Trust Indenture Reform Act, and the term "Indenture," as hereinafter used, shall mean the Indenture as so amended and superseded.

Based on the foregoing, and subject to the further assumptions and qualifications set forth below, it is our opinion that:

1. With respect to the Debt Securities to be issued under the Indenture, upon the due execution, authentication and delivery of the Debt Securities in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, when such Debt Securities have been issued and sold in the manner contemplated by the Registration Statement, such Debt Securities will be the valid, binding and enforceable obligations of the Company, entitled to the benefits of the Indenture.

2. With respect to the Warrant Securities, upon the (i) due authorization, execution and delivery of the applicable Warrant Agreement by the parties thereto, and (ii) due execution, countersignature and delivery of the Warrant Securities, when such Warrant Securities have been issued and sold in the manner contemplated by the Registration Statement, such Warrant Securities will be the valid, binding and enforceable obligations of the Company.

3. With respect to the Common Stock, upon the due execution and delivery of certificates evidencing such shares of Common Stock, when the Common Stock has been issued and sold in the manner contemplated by the Registration Statement, such Common Stock will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable. The holders of outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company are not entitled to any preemptive rights under the Certificate of Incorporation or By-Laws of the Company or the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware to subscribe for the Offered Securities or the shares of Common Stock that may be issuable upon the conversion thereof.

Insofar as the foregoing opinions relate to the validity, binding effect or enforceability of any agreement or obligation of the Company, (a) we have assumed that the Company and each other party to such agreement or obligation has satisfied or, prior to issuance of the Offered Securities, will satisfy those legal requirements that are applicable to it to the extent necessary to make such agreement or obligation enforceable against it (except that no such assumption is made as to the Company regarding matters of the federal law of the United States of America, the law of the State of New York or the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware that in our experience normally would be applicable to general business entities with respect to such agreement or obligation) and (b) such opinions are subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency and similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and to general principles of equity.

In rendering the opinion expressed in paragraph 1 above, we have assumed that each series of Debt Securities will be issued with an original aggregate principal amount (or in

2

#### United Technologies Corporation, p.3

the case of Debt Securities issued at original issue discount, an aggregate issue price) of \$2,500,000 or more.

In rendering the opinions expressed in numbered paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 above, we have further assumed that (i) a prospectus supplement, pricing supplement and/or term sheet will have been prepared and filed with the Commission describing the Offered Securities offered thereby and will comply with all applicable laws; (ii) all Offered Securities will be issued and sold in compliance with applicable law and in the manner stated in the Registration Statement and in the prospectus, the appropriate prospectus supplement, pricing supplement and/or term sheet; (iii) a definitive underwriting, Warrant Agreement or similar agreement and any other necessary agreement with respect to any Offered Securities offered or issued will have been duly authorized and validly executed and delivered by the parties thereto; (iv) the Offered Securities will be sold and delivered to, and paid for by, the purchasers at the price and in accordance with the terms of such agreement or agreements and as set forth in the Registration Statement and the prospectus, prospectus supplement(s), pricing supplement(s) or term sheet(s) referred to therein; (v) the Company will authorize the offering and issuance of the Offered Securities and will authorize, approve and establish the final terms and conditions thereof and of any applicable Warrant Agreement and will take any other appropriate additional corporate action; and (vi) certificates, if required, representing the Offered Securities will be duly executed and delivered and, to the extent required by the Indenture or applicable Warrant Agreement, duly authenticated and countersigned.

We note that by statute the law of the State of New York provides that a judgment or decree rendered in a currency other than the currency of the United States shall be converted into U.S. dollars at a rate of exchange prevailing on the date of entry of the judgment or decree. There is no corresponding federal statute and no controlling federal court decision on this issue. Accordingly, we express no opinion as to whether a federal court would award a judgment in a currency other than U.S. dollars or, if it did so, whether it would order conversion of the judgment into U.S. dollars.

The foregoing opinions are limited to the federal law of the United States of America, the law of the State of New York and the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (including the applicable provisions of the Delaware Constitution and reported judicial decisions interpreting the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware).

3

We hereby consent to the use of our name in the prospectus constituting a part of the Registration Statement and in any prospectus supplements related thereto under the heading "Validity of the Securities" as counsel for the Company who have passed on the validity of the Debt Securities, Debt Warrants, Currency Warrants, Stock-Index Warrants and Common Stock being registered by the Registration Statement and as having prepared this opinion, and to the use of this opinion as a part (Exhibit 5) of the Registration Statement. In giving such consent, we do not thereby admit that we are within the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Securities Act or the Rules and Regulations of the Commission thereunder.

Very truly yours,

# CLEARY GOTTLIEB STEEN & HAMILTON LLP

By /s/ Sandra L. Flow

Sandra L. Flow, a Partner

Securities and Exchange Commission 450 Fifth Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20549

# Commissioners:

We are aware that our reports dated April 20, 2007 and July 20, 2007 on our reviews of interim financial information of United Technologies Corporation (the "Corporation") for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2007 and 2006 and the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2007, respectively, and included in the Corporation's quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2007 and June 30, 2007 are incorporated by reference in its Registration Statement on Form S-3 dated July 24, 2007.

Very truly yours,

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

#### CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in this Registration Statement on Form S-3 of our report dated February 8, 2007, relating to the financial statements, management's assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting which appears in the 2006 Annual Report to Shareowners, which is incorporated by reference in United Technologies Corporation's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006. We also consent to the incorporation by reference of our report dated February 8, 2007 relating to the financial statement schedule, which appears in such Annual Report on Form 10-K. We also consent to the references to us as experts under the heading "Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm" in such Registration Statement.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Hartford, Connecticut July 24, 2007

#### Power Of Attorney

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that the undersigned director or officer, or both, of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), hereby constitutes and appoints Charles D. Gill, Debra A. Valentine, James E. Geisler, Gregory J. Hayes and Thomas I. Rogan and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign and file (i) a registration statement on Form S-3ASR, or such other form as may be recommended by counsel, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"), and any and all amendments and post-effective amendments thereto, and any and all instruments and documents filed as a part of or in connection with the said registration statement or amendments thereto, covering the offering and issuance for aggregate gross proceeds to the Corporation of unsubordinated non-convertible debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, warrants to purchase such debt obligations; warrants relating to the purchase or sale of one or more foreign currencies or currency units; warrants relating to increases or decreases in any specified stock index or indices; subordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, including such obligations that may be considered to be hybrid or equity instruments; subordinated or unsubordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations that are convertible into or exchangeable or otherwise exercisable for common stock of the Corporation, including through the establishment of a trust or similar vehicle, which vehicle may issue debt or equity securities; and/or common stock of the Corporation and (ii) any and all additional registration statements pursuant to Rule 462(b) relating to the registration statement described in clause (i) of this sentence if such registration statement is on a form other than Form S-3ASR; granting unto said attorneys-in fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that the said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any one of them, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has subscribed these presents this 13th day of June, 2007.

/s/ GEORGE DAVID George David

## **Power of Attorney**

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that the undersigned director or officer, or both, of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), hereby constitutes and appoints Charles D. Gill, Debra A. Valentine, James E. Geisler, Gregory J. Hayes and Thomas I. Rogan and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign and file (i) a registration statement on Form S-3ASR, or such other form as may be recommended by counsel, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"), and any and all amendments and post-effective amendments thereto, and any and all instruments and documents filed as a part of or in connection with the said registration statement or amendments thereto, covering the offering and issuance for aggregate gross proceeds to the Corporation of unsubordinated non-convertible debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, warrants to purchase such debt obligations; warrants relating to the purchase or sale of one or more foreign currencies or currency units; warrants relating to increases or decreases in any specified stock index or indices; subordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, including such obligations that may be considered to be hybrid or equity instruments; subordinated or unsubordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations that are convertible into or exchangeable or otherwise exercisable for common stock of the Corporation, including through the establishment of a trust or similar vehicle, which vehicle may issue debt or equity securities; and/or common stock of the Corporation and (ii) any and all additional registration statements pursuant to Rule 462(b) relating to the registration statement described in clause (i) of this sentence if such registration statement is on a form other than Form S-3ASR; granting unto said attorneys-in fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that the said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any one of them, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has subscribed these presents this 13th day of June, 2007.

/s/ LOUIS R. CHÊNEVERT

Louis R. Chênevert

# **Power Of Attorney**

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that the undersigned director or officer, or both, of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), hereby constitutes and appoints Charles D. Gill, Debra A. Valentine, James E. Geisler, Gregory J. Hayes and Thomas I. Rogan and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign and file (i) a registration statement on Form S-3ASR, or such other form as may be recommended by counsel, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"), and any and all amendments and post-effective amendments thereto, and any and all instruments and documents filed as a part of or in connection with the said registration statement or amendments thereto, covering the offering and issuance for aggregate gross proceeds to the Corporation of unsubordinated non-convertible debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, warrants to purchase such debt obligations; warrants relating to the purchase or sale of one or more foreign currencies or currency units; warrants relating to increases or decreases in any specified stock index or indices; subordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, including such obligations that may be considered to be hybrid or equity instruments; subordinated or unsubordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations that are convertible into or exchangeable or otherwise exercisable for common stock of the Corporation, including through the establishment of a trust or similar vehicle, which vehicle may issue debt or equity securities; and/or common stock of the Corporation and (ii) any and all additional registration statements pursuant to Rule 462(b) relating to the registration statement described in clause (i) of this sentence if such registration statement is on a form other than Form S-3ASR; granting unto said attorneys-in fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that the said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any one of them, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has subscribed these presents this 13th day of June, 2007.

/s/ JOHN V. FARACI

John V Faraci

# **Power Of Attorney**

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that the undersigned director or officer, or both, of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), hereby constitutes and appoints Charles D. Gill, Debra A. Valentine, James E. Geisler, Gregory J. Hayes and Thomas I. Rogan and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign and file (i) a registration statement on Form S-3ASR, or such other form as may be recommended by counsel, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"), and any and all amendments and post-effective amendments thereto, and any and all instruments and documents filed as a part of or in connection with the said registration statement or amendments thereto, covering the offering and issuance for aggregate gross proceeds to the Corporation of unsubordinated non-convertible debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, warrants to purchase such debt obligations; warrants relating to the purchase or sale of one or more foreign currencies or currency units; warrants relating to increases or decreases in any specified stock index or indices; subordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, including such obligations that may be considered to be hybrid or equity instruments; subordinated or unsubordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations that are convertible into or exchangeable or otherwise exercisable for common stock of the Corporation, including through the establishment of a trust or similar vehicle, which vehicle may issue debt or equity securities; and/or common stock of the Corporation and (ii) any and all additional registration statements pursuant to Rule 462(b) relating to the registration statement described in clause (i) of this sentence if such registration statement is on a form other than Form S-3ASR; granting unto said attorneys-in fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that the said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any one of them, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has subscribed these presents this 13th day of June, 2007.

/s/ JEAN-PIERRE GARNIER

Jean-Pierre Garnier

# **Power Of Attorney**

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that the undersigned director or officer, or both, of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), hereby constitutes and appoints Charles D. Gill, Debra A. Valentine, James E. Geisler, Gregory J. Hayes and Thomas I. Rogan and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign and file (i) a registration statement on Form S-3ASR, or such other form as may be recommended by counsel, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"), and any and all amendments and post-effective amendments thereto, and any and all instruments and documents filed as a part of or in connection with the said registration statement or amendments thereto, covering the offering and issuance for aggregate gross proceeds to the Corporation of unsubordinated non-convertible debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, warrants to purchase such debt obligations; warrants relating to the purchase or sale of one or more foreign currencies or currency units; warrants relating to increases or decreases in any specified stock index or indices; subordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, including such obligations that may be considered to be hybrid or equity instruments; subordinated or unsubordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations that are convertible into or exchangeable or otherwise exercisable for common stock of the Corporation, including through the establishment of a trust or similar vehicle, which vehicle may issue debt or equity securities; and/or common stock of the Corporation and (ii) any and all additional registration statements pursuant to Rule 462(b) relating to the registration statement described in clause (i) of this sentence if such registration statement is on a form other than Form S-3ASR; granting unto said attorneys-in fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that the said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any one of them, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has subscribed these presents this 13th day of June, 2007.

/s/ JAMIE S. GORELICK

Jamie S. Gorelick

# **Power Of Attorney**

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that the undersigned director or officer, or both, of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), hereby constitutes and appoints Charles D. Gill, Debra A. Valentine, James E. Geisler, Gregory J. Hayes and Thomas I. Rogan and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign and file (i) a registration statement on Form S-3ASR, or such other form as may be recommended by counsel, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"), and any and all amendments and post-effective amendments thereto, and any and all instruments and documents filed as a part of or in connection with the said registration statement or amendments thereto, covering the offering and issuance for aggregate gross proceeds to the Corporation of unsubordinated non-convertible debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, warrants to purchase such debt obligations; warrants relating to the purchase or sale of one or more foreign currencies or currency units; warrants relating to increases or decreases in any specified stock index or indices; subordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, including such obligations that may be considered to be hybrid or equity instruments; subordinated or unsubordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations that are convertible into or exchangeable or otherwise exercisable for common stock of the Corporation, including through the establishment of a trust or similar vehicle, which vehicle may issue debt or equity securities; and/or common stock of the Corporation and (ii) any and all additional registration statements pursuant to Rule 462(b) relating to the registration statement described in clause (i) of this sentence if such registration statement is on a form other than Form S-3ASR; granting unto said attorneys-in fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that the said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any one of them, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has subscribed these presents this 13th day of June, 2007.

/s/ CHARLES R. LEE

Charles R. Lee

# **Power Of Attorney**

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that the undersigned director or officer, or both, of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), hereby constitutes and appoints Charles D. Gill, Debra A. Valentine, James E. Geisler, Gregory J. Hayes and Thomas I. Rogan and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign and file (i) a registration statement on Form S-3ASR, or such other form as may be recommended by counsel, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"), and any and all amendments and post-effective amendments thereto, and any and all instruments and documents filed as a part of or in connection with the said registration statement or amendments thereto, covering the offering and issuance for aggregate gross proceeds to the Corporation of unsubordinated non-convertible debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, warrants to purchase such debt obligations; warrants relating to the purchase or sale of one or more foreign currencies or currency units; warrants relating to increases or decreases in any specified stock index or indices; subordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, including such obligations that may be considered to be hybrid or equity instruments; subordinated or unsubordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations that are convertible into or exchangeable or otherwise exercisable for common stock of the Corporation, including through the establishment of a trust or similar vehicle, which vehicle may issue debt or equity securities; and/or common stock of the Corporation and (ii) any and all additional registration statements pursuant to Rule 462(b) relating to the registration statement described in clause (i) of this sentence if such registration statement is on a form other than Form S-3ASR; granting unto said attorneys-in fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that the said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any one of them, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, the undersigned has subscribed these presents this 13th day of June, 2007.

/s/ RICHARD D. McCORMICK

Richard D. McCormick

# **Power Of Attorney**

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that the undersigned director or officer, or both, of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), hereby constitutes and appoints Charles D. Gill, Debra A. Valentine, James E. Geisler, Gregory J. Hayes and Thomas I. Rogan and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign and file (i) a registration statement on Form S-3ASR, or such other form as may be recommended by counsel, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"), and any and all amendments and post-effective amendments thereto, and any and all instruments and documents filed as a part of or in connection with the said registration statement or amendments thereto, covering the offering and issuance for aggregate gross proceeds to the Corporation of unsubordinated non-convertible debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, warrants to purchase such debt obligations; warrants relating to the purchase or sale of one or more foreign currencies or currency units; warrants relating to increases or decreases in any specified stock index or indices; subordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, including such obligations that may be considered to be hybrid or equity instruments; subordinated or unsubordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations that are convertible into or exchangeable or otherwise exercisable for common stock of the Corporation, including through the establishment of a trust or similar vehicle, which vehicle may issue debt or equity securities; and/or common stock of the Corporation and (ii) any and all additional registration statements pursuant to Rule 462(b) relating to the registration statement described in clause (i) of this sentence if such registration statement is on a form other than Form S-3ASR; granting unto said attorneys-in fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that the said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any one of them, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has subscribed these presents this 13th day of June, 2007.

/s/ HAROLD McGRAW III

Harold McGraw III

# **Power of Attorney**

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that the undersigned director or officer, or both, of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), hereby constitutes and appoints Charles D. Gill, Debra A. Valentine, James E. Geisler, Gregory J. Hayes and Thomas I. Rogan and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign and file (i) a registration statement on Form S-3ASR, or such other form as may be recommended by counsel, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"), and any and all amendments and post-effective amendments thereto, and any and all instruments and documents filed as a part of or in connection with the said registration statement or amendments thereto, covering the offering and issuance for aggregate gross proceeds to the Corporation of unsubordinated non-convertible debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, warrants to purchase such debt obligations; warrants relating to the purchase or sale of one or more foreign currencies or currency units; warrants relating to increases or decreases in any specified stock index or indices; subordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, including such obligations that may be considered to be hybrid or equity instruments; subordinated or unsubordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations that are convertible into or exchangeable or otherwise exercisable for common stock of the Corporation, including through the establishment of a trust or similar vehicle, which vehicle may issue debt or equity securities; and/or common stock of the Corporation and (ii) any and all additional registration statements pursuant to Rule 462(b) relating to the registration statement described in clause (i) of this sentence if such registration statement is on a form other than Form S-3ASR; granting unto said attorneys-in fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that the said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any one of them, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has subscribed these presents this 13th day of June, 2007.

/s/ RICHARD B. MYERS

Richard B. Myers

# **Power Of Attorney**

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that the undersigned director or officer, or both, of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), hereby constitutes and appoints Charles D. Gill, Debra A. Valentine, James E. Geisler, Gregory J. Hayes and Thomas I. Rogan and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign and file (i) a registration statement on Form S-3ASR, or such other form as may be recommended by counsel, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"), and any and all amendments and post-effective amendments thereto, and any and all instruments and documents filed as a part of or in connection with the said registration statement or amendments thereto, covering the offering and issuance for aggregate gross proceeds to the Corporation of unsubordinated non-convertible debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, warrants to purchase such debt obligations; warrants relating to the purchase or sale of one or more foreign currencies or currency units; warrants relating to increases or decreases in any specified stock index or indices; subordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, including such obligations that may be considered to be hybrid or equity instruments; subordinated or unsubordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations that are convertible into or exchangeable or otherwise exercisable for common stock of the Corporation, including through the establishment of a trust or similar vehicle, which vehicle may issue debt or equity securities; and/or common stock of the Corporation and (ii) any and all additional registration statements pursuant to Rule 462(b) relating to the registration statement described in clause (i) of this sentence if such registration statement is on a form other than Form S-3ASR; granting unto said attorneys-in fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that the said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any one of them, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has subscribed these presents this 13th day of June, 2007.

/s/ FRANK P. POPOFF

Frank P. Popoff

# **Power Of Attorney**

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that the undersigned director or officer, or both, of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), hereby constitutes and appoints Charles D. Gill, Debra A. Valentine, James E. Geisler, Gregory J. Hayes and Thomas I. Rogan and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign and file (i) a registration statement on Form S-3ASR, or such other form as may be recommended by counsel, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"), and any and all amendments and post-effective amendments thereto, and any and all instruments and documents filed as a part of or in connection with the said registration statement or amendments thereto, covering the offering and issuance for aggregate gross proceeds to the Corporation of unsubordinated non-convertible debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, warrants to purchase such debt obligations; warrants relating to the purchase or sale of one or more foreign currencies or currency units; warrants relating to increases or decreases in any specified stock index or indices; subordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, including such obligations that may be considered to be hybrid or equity instruments; subordinated or unsubordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations that are convertible into or exchangeable or otherwise exercisable for common stock of the Corporation, including through the establishment of a trust or similar vehicle, which vehicle may issue debt or equity securities; and/or common stock of the Corporation and (ii) any and all additional registration statements pursuant to Rule 462(b) relating to the registration statement described in clause (i) of this sentence if such registration statement is on a form other than Form S-3ASR; granting unto said attorneys-in fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that the said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any one of them, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has subscribed these presents this 13th day of June, 2007.

/s/ H. PATRICK SWYGERT

H. Patrick Swygert

# **Power Of Attorney**

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that the undersigned director or officer, or both, of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), hereby constitutes and appoints Charles D. Gill, Debra A. Valentine, James E. Geisler, Gregory J. Hayes and Thomas I. Rogan and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign and file (i) a registration statement on Form S-3ASR, or such other form as may be recommended by counsel, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"), and any and all amendments and post-effective amendments thereto, and any and all instruments and documents filed as a part of or in connection with the said registration statement or amendments thereto, covering the offering and issuance for aggregate gross proceeds to the Corporation of unsubordinated non-convertible debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, warrants to purchase such debt obligations; warrants relating to the purchase or sale of one or more foreign currencies or currency units; warrants relating to increases or decreases in any specified stock index or indices; subordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, including such obligations that may be considered to be hybrid or equity instruments; subordinated or unsubordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations that are convertible into or exchangeable or otherwise exercisable for common stock of the Corporation, including through the establishment of a trust or similar vehicle, which vehicle may issue debt or equity securities; and/or common stock of the Corporation and (ii) any and all additional registration statements pursuant to Rule 462(b) relating to the registration statement described in clause (i) of this sentence if such registration statement is on a form other than Form S-3ASR; granting unto said attorneys-in fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that the said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any one of them, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, the undersigned has subscribed these presents this 13th day of June, 2007.

/s/ ANDRÉ VILLENEUVE André Villeneuve

# **Power Of Attorney**

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that the undersigned director or officer, or both, of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), hereby constitutes and appoints Charles D. Gill, Debra A. Valentine, James E. Geisler, Gregory J. Hayes and Thomas I. Rogan and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign and file (i) a registration statement on Form S-3ASR, or such other form as may be recommended by counsel, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"), and any and all amendments and post-effective amendments thereto, and any and all instruments and documents filed as a part of or in connection with the said registration statement or amendments thereto, covering the offering and issuance for aggregate gross proceeds to the Corporation of unsubordinated non-convertible debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, warrants to purchase such debt obligations; warrants relating to the purchase or sale of one or more foreign currencies or currency units; warrants relating to increases or decreases in any specified stock index or indices; subordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, including such obligations that may be considered to be hybrid or equity instruments; subordinated or unsubordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations that are convertible into or exchangeable or otherwise exercisable for common stock of the Corporation, including through the establishment of a trust or similar vehicle, which vehicle may issue debt or equity securities; and/or common stock of the Corporation and (ii) any and all additional registration statements pursuant to Rule 462(b) relating to the registration statement described in clause (i) of this sentence if such registration statement is on a form other than Form S-3ASR; granting unto said attorneys-in fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that the said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any one of them, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has subscribed these presents this 13th day of June, 2007.

/s/ H. A. WAGNER

H. A. Wagner

# **Power Of Attorney**

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that the undersigned director or officer, or both, of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), hereby constitutes and appoints Charles D. Gill, Debra A. Valentine, James E. Geisler, Gregory J. Hayes and Thomas I. Rogan and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign and file (i) a registration statement on Form S-3ASR, or such other form as may be recommended by counsel, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"), and any and all amendments and post-effective amendments thereto, and any and all instruments and documents filed as a part of or in connection with the said registration statement or amendments thereto, covering the offering and issuance for aggregate gross proceeds to the Corporation of unsubordinated non-convertible debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, warrants to purchase such debt obligations; warrants relating to the purchase or sale of one or more foreign currencies or currency units; warrants relating to increases or decreases in any specified stock index or indices; subordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations of the Corporation, including such obligations that may be considered to be hybrid or equity instruments; subordinated or unsubordinated debentures, notes and/or other debt obligations that are convertible into or exchangeable or otherwise exercisable for common stock of the Corporation, including through the establishment of a trust or similar vehicle, which vehicle may issue debt or equity securities; and/or common stock of the Corporation and (ii) any and all additional registration statements pursuant to Rule 462(b) relating to the registration statement described in clause (i) of this sentence if such registration statement is on a form other than Form S-3ASR; granting unto said attorneys-in fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that the said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any one of them, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, the undersigned has subscribed these presents this 13th day of June, 2007.

/s/ CHRISTINE TODD WHITMAN

Christine Todd Whitman

# FORM T-1

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

STATEMENT OF ELIGIBILITY UNDER THE TRUST INDENTURE ACT OF 1939 OF A CORPORATION DESIGNATED TO ACT AS TRUSTEE

CHECK IF AN APPLICATION TO DETERMINE ELIGIBILITY OF A TRUSTEE PURSUANT TO SECTION 305(b)(2)

# THE BANK OF NEW YORK TRUST COMPANY, N.A.

(Exact name of trustee as specified in its charter)

(State of incorporation if not a U.S. national bank)

700 South Flower Street Suite 500 Los Angeles, California (Address of principal executive offices) 95-3571558 (I.R.S. employer identification no.)

> 90017 (Zip code)

# UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION

(Exact name of obligor as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

One Financial Plaza Hartford, Connecticut (Address of principal executive offices) 06-0570975 (I.R.S. employer identification no.)

> 06103 (Zip code)

Debt Securities (Title of the indenture securities)

#### 1. General information. Furnish the following information as to the trustee:

# (a) Name and address of each examining or supervising authority to which it is subject.

Name	Address
Comptroller of the Currency United States Department of the Treasury	Washington, D.C. 20219
Federal Reserve Bank	San Francisco, California 94105
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation	Washington, D.C. 20429

(b) Whether it is authorized to exercise corporate trust powers.

Yes.

#### 2. Affiliations with Obligor.

If the obligor is an affiliate of the trustee, describe each such affiliation.

None.

#### 16. List of Exhibits.

# Exhibits identified in parentheses below, on file with the Commission, are incorporated herein by reference as an exhibit hereto, pursuant to Rule 7a-29 under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 (the "Act") and 17 C.F.R. 229.10(d).

- 1. A copy of the articles of association of The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A. (Exhibit 1 to Form T-1 filed with Registration Statement No. 333-121948).
- A copy of certificate of authority of the trustee to commence business. (Exhibit 2 to Form T-1 filed with Registration Statement No. 333-121948).
- 3. A copy of the authorization of the trustee to exercise corporate trust powers. (Exhibit 3 to Form T-1 filed with Registration Statement No. 333-121948).
- 4. A copy of the existing by-laws of the trustee. (Exhibit 4 to Form T-1 filed with Registration Statement No. 333-121948).

# - 2 -

<sup>6.</sup> The consent of the trustee required by Section 321(b) of the Act. (Exhibit 6 to Form T-1 filed with Registration Statement No. 333-121948).

<sup>7.</sup> A copy of the latest report of condition of the Trustee published pursuant to law or to the requirements of its supervising or examining authority.

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Act, the trustee, The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., a banking association organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, has duly caused this statement of eligibility to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, all in The City of Boston, and State of Massachusetts, on the 12th day of July, 2007.

THE BANK OF NEW YORK TRUST COMPANY, N.A.

By: <u>/S/ Chi Ma</u> Name: Chi Ma Title: Title: Vice President

- 4 -

# Consolidated Report of Condition of THE BANK OF NEW YORK TRUST COMPANY, N.A. of 700 South Flower Street, Suite 200, Los Angeles, CA 90017

At the close of business March 31, 2007, published in accordance with Federal regulatory authority instructions.

	Dollar Amounts in Thousands
ASSETS	
Cash and balances due from depository institutions:	
Noninterest-bearing balances and currency and coin	2,391
Interest-bearing balances	0
Securities:	
Held-to-maturity securities	40
Available-for-sale securities	65,083
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell:	
Federal funds sold	48,400
Securities purchased under agreements to resell	54,885
Loans and lease financing receivables:	
Loans and leases held for sale	0
Loans and leases, net of unearned income	0
LESS: Allowance for loan and lease losses	0
Loans and leases, net of unearned income and allowance	0
Trading assets	0
Premises and fixed assets (including capitalized leases)	8,755
Other real estate owned	0
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and associated companies	0
Not applicable	
Intangible assets:	
Goodwill	924,236
Other Intangible Assets	270,030
Other assets	143,616
Total assets	\$ 1,517,436

1

LIABILITIES	
Deposits:	
In domestic offices	1,691
Noninterest-bearing	1,691
Interest-bearing	_,
Not applicable	
Federal funds purchased and securities sold under agreements to repurchase:	
Federal funds purchased	0
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase	0
Trading liabilities	0
Other borrowed money:	
(includes mortgage indebtedness and obligations under capitalized leases)	118,691
Not applicable	
Not applicable	
Subordinated notes and debentures	0
Other liabilities	126,416
Total liabilities	246,798
Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries	0

# EQUITY CAPITAL

Perpetual preferred stock and related surplus	0
Common stock	1,000
Surplus (exclude all surplus related to preferred stock)	1,121,520
Retained earnings	148,100
Accumulated other comprehensive income	18
Other equity capital components	0
Total equity capital	1,270,638
Total liabilities, minority interest, and equity capital (sum of items 21, 22, and 28)	1,517,436

I, Karen Bayz, Vice President of the above-named bank do hereby declare that the Reports of Condition and Income (including the supporting schedules) for this report date have been prepared in conformance with the instructions issued by the appropriate Federal regulatory authority and are true to the best of my knowledge and belief.

# Karen Bayz ) Vice President

We, the undersigned directors (trustees), attest to the correctness of the Report of Condition (including the supporting schedules) for this report date and declare that it has been examined by us and to the best of our knowledge and belief has been prepared in conformance with the instructions issued by the appropriate Federal regulatory authority and is true and correct.

Michael K. Klugman, Presiden	t )	
Frank P. Sulzberger, MD	)	Directors (Trustees)
Michael F. McFadden, MD	)	

2